POLITECNICO DI TORINO

Master's Degree in ELECTRONICS ENGINEERINGCOURSE



Master's Degree Thesis

Development of a synchronous sensors' network's firmware

Supervisors

Candidate

Prof. Luciano LAVAGNO

Pooria NAJI ZAVAR.G

Prof. Mihai LAZARESCU

October 2024

Abstract

The PRIMULA project seeks to address the key challenges in real-time monitoring and management of Parkinson's Disease (PD) symptoms through a wireless body area network (WBAN) framework. PD is characterized by debilitating motor symptoms, including bradykinesia, rigidity, and tremors, which necessitate accurate, continuous monitoring for effective treatment. Existing solutions face limitations in energy consumption, data synchronization, and real-time data transmission, especially in mobile and dynamic environments. The proposed system focuses on optimizing asynchronous communication, real-time data acquisition, and reliable data transmission, utilizing state-of-the-art protocols such as Network Time Protocol (NTP) and Message Queuing Telemetry Transport (MQTT).

The PRIMULA system's architecture integrates key components such as the Raspberry Pi Pico W microcontroller and Wi-Fi communication to ensure stable, long-range wireless communication. A modular design ensures scalability, allowing for future extensions with additional sensors. A circular buffer mechanism is employed to manage continuous data streams, preventing data loss during transmission, while asynchronous sensor nodes, synchronized via NTP, facilitate precise timekeeping critical for motion data analysis.

Firmware development is centered around improving energy efficiency and system reliability through optimized use of duty cycles and watchdog timers. The system was validated through a series of experiments focusing on synchronization accuracy, data transmission reliability, and overall system responsiveness. NTP synchronization achieved an average latency of 121.36 ms across 8,640 synchronization events, with a success rate of 99.44% on the first attempt. Data transmission via MQTT was verified with a 100% success rate over 6 hours, with transmission times averaging 1.43 ms. The PRIMULA system's performance was consistently reliable, demonstrating minimal latency in ADC data acquisition and data transmission under continuous monitoring conditions.

Future work will explore the integration of cloud-based processing for enhanced scalability, as well as hybrid communication protocols to further optimize power consumption and system performance. The results demonstrate that the PRIMULA framework provides a robust, real-time solution for the continuous monitoring of PD symptoms, positioning it as a critical tool for improving patient care and management.

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Prof. Luciano Lavagno and Prof. Mihai Lăzărescu, for their invaluable guidance, support, and expertise throughout the course of this project. Their insightful feedback, encouragement, and patience have been instrumental in shaping both the direction and outcome of this thesis.

I am also deeply indebted to my uncles, Nasser and Farzan, whose unwavering belief in my abilities and constant encouragement have been a source of strength and inspiration. Their support has been immeasurable.

To my mother, who has been my pillar of support, providing unconditional love and motivation, I owe my heartfelt thanks. Her sacrifices and belief in me have fueled my ambition and determination to complete this work.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge all those who have contributed to this journey, both academically and personally, whose influence has helped me reach this significant milestone.

Thank you all.

Table of Contents

List of Tables						
Li	List of Figures VII					
A	crony	\mathbf{ms}		Х		
1	Intr	oducti	on	1		
	1.1	Backg	round and Motivation	1		
	1.2	Proble	em Statement	2		
		1.2.1	The PRIMULA Project and Asynchronous Communication			
			for PD Monitoring	2		
		1.2.2	Optimizing WBAN Performance: The Need for Advanced			
			Routing and Data Aggregation	3		
	1.3	Object	tive and Scope	3		
	1.4	Thesis	Structure	3		
2	Lite	rature	Review	5		
	2.1	Wirele	ss Sensor Networks (WSNs) Technology	5		
		2.1.1	Power Unit	6		
		2.1.2	Microcontroller Unit (MCU)	6		
		2.1.3	Memory	6		
		2.1.4	Transceiver	6		
		2.1.5	Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC)	7		
		2.1.6	Sensor/Transducer Unit	7		
	2.2	Comm	unication Architecture for WSNs and OSI Model	7		
	2.3	Cross-	Laver Optimization	8		
	0.4	4 Gateways in Wireless Sensor Networks		-		
2.5 Wireless Sensor Networks Topologies		Gatew	avs in Wireless Sensor Networks	8		
	$\frac{2.4}{2.5}$	Gatew Wirele	ays in Wireless Sensor Networks	8 9		
	$2.4 \\ 2.5$	Gatew Wirele 2.5.1	vays in Wireless Sensor Networks	8 9 9		
	2.4 2.5	Gatew Wirele 2.5.1 2.5.2	rays in Wireless Sensor Networks			

		2.5.4	Hybrid Topology 1	2			
	2.6	WSN (Communication Standards and Specifications 1	3			
		2.6.1	IEEE 802.15.4	4			
		2.6.2	ZigBee	4			
		2.6.3	Bluetooth and Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE) 1	4			
		2.6.4	6LoWPAN	.4			
		2.6.5	Other Emerging Standards	5			
	2.7	Wirele	ss Body Area Networks (WBANs)	8			
		2.7.1	Architecture	8			
		2.7.2	Three-Tier Architecture	9			
	2.8	Routin	ng in WBANs	:1			
		2.8.1	Network Partitioning	2			
		2.8.2	Energy Efficiency	2			
		2.8.3	Quality of Service (QoS)	2			
		2.8.4	Privacy and Security	:3			
		2.8.5	Limited Resources	:3			
	2.9	Routin	ng Protocols	:4			
		2.9.1	Clustering in Wireless Body Area Networks	:4			
		2.9.2	Intra-cluster	:5			
		2.9.3	Inter-cluster Communication	:5			
		2.9.4	Challenges in Clustering	:5			
		2.9.5	Trust-Based Energy-Efficient and Reliable Communication				
			Scheme	25			
		2.9.6	Distributed Energy-Efficient Clustering and Routing (DECR) 2	6			
		2.9.7	Genetic Algorithm-Based CH Selection	:6			
		2.9.8	Energy Trust Assessment Scheme (ETAS)	6			
		2.9.9	Trust-based Intrusion Detection and Clustering 2	6			
		2.9.10	Summary of Clustering Benefits	17			
		2.9.11	Cross-Layered Routing Protocol	8			
		2.9.12	Security Responsive Routing Protocol	'9			
		2.9.13	Temperature Aware Routing Protocol	50			
		2.9.14	Postural-Movement Based Routing Protocol	1			
3	Cor	centus	al Framework and System Design 3	3			
0	3.1	Parkinson's Disease (PD) 33					
	3.2	Challe	nges in PD Management 3	3			
	0.2	3.2.1	Heterogeneity and Progression of Symptoms	4			
		3.2.2	Limitations of Current Assessment Tools	4			
		3.2.3	Medication Side Effects and Individualized Treatment 3	5			
	3.3	Currer	t Trends in Technology	5			
	3.4	Introduction to the PRIMULA Project 35					

3.5	Problem Statement	36
3.6	System Design and Architecture	37
	3.6.1 Hardware Components	37
	3.6.2 Pinout Diagram	39
3.7	Software Components	40
	3.7.1 Arduino IDE	40
3.8	Data Flow in PRIMULA	41
4 Im	plementation Prototype	43
4.1	System Design and Architecture	43
	4.1.1 Addressing Design Challenget	44
	4.1.2 Flowchart \ldots	45
4.2	Firmware Development	47
	4.2.1 Firmware Development Objectives	47
	4.2.2 Libraries Dependency	48
	4.2.3 Key Functionalities	49
	4.2.4 Function Definitions	49
	4.2.5 Techniques Used in the Firmware Code	51
	4.2.6 Challenges Encountered and Solutions	52
4.3	Test and Validation	53
	4.3.1 Time Synchronization Validation	53
	4.3.2 Integrated System Validation	55
	4.3.3 Test Setup and Methodology	55
	4.3.4 Data Collection and Processing Validation	56
	4.3.5 Data Transmission Validation	56
	4.3.6 System Responsiveness and Reliability	58
4.4	Conclusion	59
4.5	Future Work	60

Bibliography

List of Tables

2.1	Comparative Analysis of Communication Protocols - Part 1	16
2.2	Comparative Analysis of Communication Protocols - Part 2	17
2.3	Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Part 1	27
2.4	Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Part 2	28
2.5	Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Objectives	29
2.6	Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Limitations	29
2.7	Comparative Analysis of Routing Protocols - Objectives	30
2.8	Comparative Analysis of Routing Protocols - Limitations	30
4.1	Key Functionalities of the PRIMULA Firmware	49
4.2	Integration of Techniques for Optimal Performance	52
4.3	Synchronization Statistics Over 24 Hours	53
4.4	Data Transmission Statistics Over 6 Hours	57

List of Figures

2.1	An example of the WSN architecture	5
2.2	Star Topology in WSNs.	10
2.3	Mesh Topology in WSNs	11
2.4	Tree Topology in WSNs.	12
2.5	Hybrid Topology in WSNs	13
2.6	Four-layer architecture of WBANs for chronic disease monitoring.	19
2.7	Three-tier architecture for WBANs	20
2.8	Challenges faced during routing in WBANs	21
2.9	Routing Protocols for WBAN	24
2.10	RSS Variations Across Different Activities	32
3.1	Most Common Motor and Non-Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's	
	Disease	34
3.2	This diagram illustrates the layout of the GPIO pins, highlighting	
	their various functions including power, ground, UART, SPI, I2C,	
	PWM, ADC, and system control, providing a detailed reference for	
	the hardware setup	39
3.3	Real-world setup of the Raspberry Pi Pico W	40
3.4	Data flow in PRIMULA from data collection to pattern detection	41
4.1	Conceptual architecture of the PRIMULA system	44
4.2	Flowchart of the PRIMULA system's operational framework	46
4.3	NTP Synchronization Times Over 24 Hours, with Markers Indicating	
	the Number of Attempts	54
4.4	ADC Acquisition Time Over 6 Hours, Represents the ADC acquisi-	
	tion time during the observation period, showing consistent timing	
	with occasional spikes due to system processing loads	56
4.5	MQTT Message Transmission Times Over 6 Hours, with Markers	
	Indicating the Number of Attempts	57
4.6	System Responsiveness Metrics Over 6 Hours	58

Acronyms

5G NR

 $5\mathrm{G}$ New Radio

6LoWPAN

IPv6 over Low-Power Wireless Personal Area Networks

ADC

Analog-to-Digital Converter

AES

Advanced Encryption Standard

AES-CCM

Advanced Encryption Standard - Counter with CBC-MAC

\mathbf{AI}

Artificial Intelligence

AMQP

Advanced Message Queuing Protocol

AODV

Ad-hoc On-demand Distance Vector

\mathbf{AP}

Access Point

BAN

Body Area Network

BCC

Body-Coupled Communication

BLE

Bluetooth Low Energy

\mathbf{CH}

Cluster Head

CMOS

Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor

CoAP

Constrained Application Protocol

\mathbf{CPU}

Central Processing Unit

DDS

Data Distribution Service

DTLS

Datagram Transport Layer Security

eDRX

extended Discontinuous Reception

eMBB

enhanced Mobile Broadband

GATT

Generic Attribute Profile

\mathbf{GW}

Gateway

HEED

Hybrid Energy-Efficient Distributed Clustering

IEEE

Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers

\mathbf{IMU}

Inertial Measurement Unit

IoT

Internet of Things

IPsec

Internet Protocol Security

LAEEBA

Link Aware and Energy Efficient Routing Protocol for WBAN

LEACH

Low-Energy Adaptive Clustering Hierarchy

LED

Light-Emitting Diode

LoRaWAN

Long Range Wide Area Network

LPWAN

Low Power Wide Area Network

LTE-M

Long Term Evolution for Machines

\mathbf{MAC}

Medium Access Control

\mathbf{MCU}

Microcontroller Unit

MEMS

Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems

mMTC

massive Machine Type Communications

MQTT

Message Queuing Telemetry Transport

NB-IoT

Narrowband Internet of Things

NIST

National Institute of Standards and Technology

\mathbf{NR}

New Radio

OSI

Open Systems Interconnection

PD

Parkinson's Disease

\mathbf{PDR}

Packet Delivery Ratio

\mathbf{PLR}

Packet Loss Rate

\mathbf{QoS}

Quality of Service

\mathbf{RSS}

Received Signal Strength

\mathbf{SA}

Security Association

\mathbf{SAR}

Specific Absorption Rate

\mathbf{SDN}

Software-Defined Networking

\mathbf{SIM}

Subscriber Identity Module

TCP

Transmission Control Protocol

\mathbf{TLS}

Transport Layer Security

UDP

User Datagram Protocol

URLLC

Ultra-Reliable Low-Latency Communications

WBAN

Wireless Body Area Network

Wi-Fi

Wireless Fidelity

WSN

Wireless Sensor Network

Chapter 1 Introduction

In this chapter, the motivation and intention of this work will be described to provide a rough overview.

1.1 Background and Motivation

Wireless Sensor Networks (WSNs) and the Internet of Things (IoT) are rapidly transforming various aspects of our lives, including healthcare, industrial automation, agriculture, and environmental monitoring. In fact, the focus of this framework is on advancing the IoT-based health care system which has a significant effect on the lives of many people.

Postural instability, a difficulty maintaining balance, is a common symptom in various conditions like inner ear disorders, cerebrovascular diseases, and Parkinson's disease (PD). Due to technological advancements in smart healthcare, wearable devices offer significant advantages, including reducing patients' dependence on caregivers and lowering the costs associated with monitoring various biological parameters, particularly for elderly individuals [1, 2].

In the elderly, slowed reflexes and reduced muscle strength worsen the condition [3]. A standard wearable device consists of an IMU network that provides raw inertial data to measure common motor symptoms in PD, known as a perfect solution [4]. There are several different IoT-based wearable devices for PD, like WESAA [2], which offer a comprehensive analysis of the movement of patients. In this scenario, to effectively design a wearable device, a deep understanding of WSN architecture—which is a crucial part of this wireless device alongside application needs—should be considered.

Despite the immense potential, current WSN architectures designed and implemented in wearable devices face significant challenges due to the dynamic changes in the human body. Current WSN designs in healthcare movement monitoring applications, known as Wireless Body Area Networks (WBAN), are often based on traditional IoT data communication protocols such as Open Systems Interconnection (OSI), which have limitations, including energy consumption [4].

This thesis builds upon the PRIMULA project, a collaboration with Brain Technology Company, which aimed to develop firmware for a conceptual prototype of a wearable device consisting of asynchronous sensors for assessing postural instability in PD patients. The firmware's role is to configure a single node to collect and transmit data from the inertial measurement unit (IMU).

1.2 Problem Statement

1.2.1 The PRIMULA Project and Asynchronous Communication for PD Monitoring

The PRIMULA project, a collaborative effort with Brain Technology Company, seeks to revolutionize the management of PD through wearable devices equipped with IMUs. These devices hold promise for enabling personalized treatment plans and accurately reconstructing body movements, which are crucial for understanding and managing PD symptoms. However, the dynamic nature of the human body poses significant challenges to the reliable operation of such devices. Variations in sensor performance and wireless signal quality, induced by body movements and environmental factors, can lead to increased energy consumption, higher latency, limited scalability, and reduced responsiveness [5, 4, 6].

To mitigate these challenges, PRIMULA employs asynchronous communication, a paradigm in which sensors operate independently and transmit data only when necessary. This approach significantly enhances energy efficiency across the network [7]. This is a critical factor for battery-powered wearables, while reducing interference in the crowded wireless spectrum of the human body [8, 9]. In fact, asynchronous communication also provides greater flexibility, allowing for the seamless addition or removal of sensors to accommodate the evolving needs of PD monitoring. Furthermore, it enables real-time responsiveness for the effective detection and management of PD symptoms [10].

This approach's implementation of asynchronous communication, utilizing the MQTT protocol and NTP time synchronization, underscores the feasibility and potential benefits in real-world PD monitoring scenarios. The system's efficacy is validated through testing, as detailed in Chapter 4, confirming its capability to accurately collect, synchronize, and transmit IMU data reliably.

1.2.2 Optimizing WBAN Performance: The Need for Advanced Routing and Data Aggregation

While our proposed approach in PRIMULA successfully demonstrates the advantages of asynchronous communication in a single-node WBAN, a comprehensive literature review reveals that optimizing routing and data aggregation is equally crucial for achieving scalable and efficient PD monitoring in real-world scenarios. Ensuring data accuracy and reliability is crucial for making informed diagnostic and treatment decisions [5, 3]. However, existing WBAN designs often struggle with maintaining packet-level synchronization accuracy across multiple nodes, which is essential for precise data analysis and correlation from multiple IMUs [11, 4, 12].

Real-time processing of sensor data from multiple nodes is another critical requirement for comprehensive PD symptom monitoring [3, 4]. The limited resources of wearable devices necessitate the development of reliable, scalable, and secure protocols for efficient data transmission and processing. Robust architectures are required to manage the growing volume of data generated by multiple sensors while maintaining real-time monitoring capabilities. This scalability introduces challenges such as precise synchronization among nodes, increased data transfer demands, and efficient energy management for data aggregation and processing [5].

1.3 Objective and Scope

This thesis aims to address the challenges identified in the problem statement by optimizing WSN design for real-time, cloud-based monitoring of PD in elderly patients. Central to this research is the evaluation of asynchronous communication within the PRIMULA project, focusing on its impact on energy efficiency, data transmission reliability, and real-time responsiveness. The study will identify potential limitations related to synchronization, data transfer demands, and energy management, and propose solutions based on insights from the literature review and PRIMULA project analysis.

1.4 Thesis Structure

This thesis is organized into five chapters, each addressing key aspects of the research question and contributing to the overall goal of developing an optimized firmware architecture for wearable PD monitoring devices.

• Chapter 2: Literature Review conducts a comprehensive analysis of existing WSNs and WBANs, identifying current challenges and gaps in PD monitoring technologies.

- Chapter 3: Conceptual Framework and System Design presents the architectural design of the PRIMULA system, detailing the integration of asynchronous communication protocols and the selection of suitable hardware components to enhance system efficiency and reliability.
- Chapter 4: Implementation describes the development and deployment of the PRIMULA prototype, including firmware development, system configuration, and rigorous testing procedures to validate the system's performance and functionality.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1 Wireless Sensor Networks (WSNs) Technology

The standard architecture of a WSN comprises five fundamental components, with an additional one adjustable module tailored to specific applications (Figure **??**). These components are crucial for the operation and functionality of the WSN.



Figure 2.1: An example of the WSN architecture.

2.1.1 Power Unit

The power unit is the energy source for the WSN node, often relying on batteries due to deployment in remote locations. Battery lifetime is a critical design consideration, with energy harvesting techniques like solar or vibration offering potential solutions to extend operational life [13]. Power consumption is primarily attributed to sensing, communication, and data processing, with data transmission being particularly energy intensive. To mitigate this, duty cycling, where nodes alternate between active and sleep modes, can be employed [6]. Additionally, ambient energy harvesting (AEH) techniques, such as those using piezoelectric crystals or thermoelectric elements, can be utilized to power small sensor nodes [13].

2.1.2 Microcontroller Unit (MCU)

Acting as the "brain" of the WSN, the MCU controls all operations, including sensing, data processing, and communication. Low-power microcontrollers like the Texas Instruments MSP430 family are increasingly popular due to their energy efficiency and integrated peripherals [5]. The MCU also plays a crucial role in implementing network protocols like IEEE 802.15.4, essential for WSN communication. In IoT devices, the MCU often doubles as a portable processing device, with options like Arduino and ESP8266 offering flexibility and ease of use for various tasks [14]. The CPU of a sensor node is typically a microprocessor with flash memory, responsible for decision-making, data analysis, and communication with other nodes [15].

2.1.3 Memory

The memory module serves a dual purpose: storing sensed data and the device's programming. While the microcontroller often includes onboard memory, typically flash memory due to its cost-effectiveness and capacity, external memory options like SD cards or external flash memory chips may be necessary for data-intensive applications or firmware updates [16, 6]. Memory management techniques like data compression and aggregation are crucial for optimizing the use of limited memory resources.

2.1.4 Transceiver

This unit enables wireless communication between WSN nodes, transmitting data and receiving commands. The choice of wireless technology (e.g., Zigbee, Bluetooth Low Energy) impacts communication range, data rate, and power consumption. RF transceivers are the most common in WSNs, with typical ranges of 10 meters indoors and 100 meters outdoors. Design considerations for transceivers involve trade-offs between data rate, range, power consumption, and cost, while also addressing challenges like interference and multi-path fading through techniques like channel hopping and diversity [6]. The transceiver operates in four states: receive, transmit, idle, and sleep.

2.1.5 Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC)

As most sensors generate analog signals, the ADC is crucial for converting these into digital data that the MCU can process. The ADC's resolution and sampling rate directly influence the accuracy and precision of the sensor data. In many WSN applications, the ADC is integrated into the microcontroller board for efficiency and compactness.

2.1.6 Sensor/Transducer Unit

The sixth, adjustable module, the Sensor/Transducer Unit, is application-specific and comprises the sensors that interact with the environment to collect data. The choice of sensors depends on the WSN's purpose, ranging from temperature and humidity sensors for environmental monitoring to accelerometers for motion tracking and beyond. These sensors convert environmental variables into electrical impulses, with advancements in sensing technologies like MEMS, CMOS, and LED sensors expanding their capabilities and applications [5].

2.2 Communication Architecture for WSNs and OSI Model

WSN uses a radio system which consists of two essential parts, a transmitter and a receiver. Both are necessary for nodes to communicate with each other in a network. The radio's role is to receive information from a central control system and relay it to other sensor nodes, as well as to receive data from other nodes and transmit it back to the central system. In a WSN, each sensor node sends its collected data to a parent node, which is connected to a central computer. This central computer acts as a hub, allowing users to access data from all nodes through a computer interface. Users can also send commands through the internet to the central computer, which then relays these commands to the parent node and subsequently to its child nodes [2].

The Open Systems Interconnection (OSI) model, a conceptual framework comprising seven distinct layers (Physical, Data Link, Network, Transport, Session, Presentation, and Application), has been a cornerstone in network protocol design [17]. However, the resource limitations of WSNs, such as constrained energy, processing power, and memory, necessitate a tailored approach [18]. Direct implementation of all seven OSI layers in WSNs proves impractical due to these constraints [18]. Consequently, WSN protocols typically prioritize the essential layers, namely the Physical, Data Link, Network, and Transport layers, while optimizing or omitting the higher layers [18]. This adaptation ensures efficient communication within the constraints of WSN environments, focusing on core functionalities like data transmission, error detection, routing, and reliable delivery [18].

2.3 Cross-Layer Optimization

Cross-layer optimization, a design paradigm that transcends the strict boundaries of the layered OSI model, has emerged as a critical approach to address the challenges faced by resource-constrained WSNs [19]. By enabling direct communication and cooperation between non-adjacent layers, cross-layer techniques empower WSNs to achieve enhanced energy efficiency, improved reliability, and better overall performance [19]. For instance, cross-layer protocols can leverage channel state information from the Physical layer to make informed routing decisions at the Network layer, thereby optimizing energy consumption and minimizing packet losses [20]. Moreover, information sharing between the Application and MAC layers can enable priority-based scheduling, ensuring timely delivery of critical data while conserving energy for less urgent transmissions [21]. However, it's important to acknowledge that cross-layer design introduces increased complexity and potential for protocol violations, warranting careful consideration of trade-offs and adherence to established standards [22].

2.4 Gateways in Wireless Sensor Networks

In WSNs, gateways play a crucial role as intermediaries between the resourceconstrained sensor nodes and the external network or base station [1, 5, 13]. They are typically more powerful elements with greater energy, computational capabilities, and communication range than the sensor nodes [23]. Gateways are responsible for aggregating data from multiple sensor nodes, potentially performing data processing or filtering, and then transmitting the relevant information to the base station or other network entities [5]. In WSNs with limited coverage, gateways may communicate directly with sensor nodes in a single hop, like a star topology [14]. However, in larger networks, multi-hop communication is necessary, where gateways act as relay nodes, forwarding data from sensor nodes closer to the base station [24]. Gateways can also perform data aggregation, reducing redundant information before transmission, thus conserving energy. The design of gateways in WSNs is influenced by factors such as energy consumption, network topology, and the size of the area of interest [5].

2.5 Wireless Sensor Networks Topologies

Topology control in WSNs is critical for optimizing network performance, enhancing energy efficiency, and ensuring robust connectivity. Various topologies have been developed, each with unique characteristics, advantages, and limitations. This review focuses on Star, Mesh, Tree, and Hybrid topologies, emphasizing their applications in IoT and healthcare, particularly for monitoring PD.

2.5.1 Star Topology

Star topology is characterized by each sensor node communicating directly with a central base station. This setup simplifies network management and ensures low latency in data transmission, making it suitable for small-scale IoT deployments and localized monitoring such as healthcare systems. However, star topology introduces a single point of failure; if the base station fails, the entire network is compromised. Additionally, its scalability is limited as the base station can become a bottleneck under high traffic loads [17, 18, 13].



STAR - TOPOLOGY

Figure 2.2: Star Topology in WSNs.

The energy consumption in star topology can be represented as:

$$E_{\text{total}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(E_{\text{tx},i} + E_{\text{rx},i} \right)$$

where $E_{\text{tx},i}$ and $E_{\text{rx},i}$ denote the transmission and reception energy of node *i*, respectively [17, 13].

2.5.2 Mesh Topology

In contrast, mesh topology allows nodes to communicate with multiple other nodes, creating a robust and flexible network structure. This enhances fault tolerance and scalability, making it ideal for large-scale networks, industrial automation, and mission-critical applications. However, the increased complexity and higher energy consumption due to multiple communication paths are notable drawbacks [18, 13].



MESH-TOPOLOGY

Figure 2.3: Mesh Topology in WSNs.

The total power consumption in mesh topology is given by:

$$P_{\text{total}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(P_{\text{tx},i} + P_{\text{rx},i} + P_{\text{idle},i} \right)$$

where $P_{\text{tx},i}$, $P_{\text{rx},i}$, and $P_{\text{idle},i}$ denote the transmission, reception, and idle power of node *i* [17, 13].

2.5.3 Tree Topology

Tree topology arranges nodes in a hierarchical structure, forming a tree-like network. This setup facilitates efficient data aggregation and reduces redundancy. In tree topology, each node, except the root, has a parent node to which it sends data. The term "hop" refers to the number of steps or "hops" data takes as it moves from a leaf node (at the edge of the network) to the root node (at the center). However, this topology is vulnerable to node failures and requires complex maintenance, making it suitable for structured data collection environments such as environmental monitoring [18, 13].



TREE-TOPOLOGY



The energy consumption in tree topology can be calculated as:

$$E_{\text{tree}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (E_{\text{tx},i} + E_{\text{rx},i}) \times \text{Hop Count}$$

where Hop Count represents the number of hops from leaf nodes to the root node [17, 13].

2.5.4 Hybrid Topology

Hybrid topology combines elements of star, tree, and mesh topologies, leveraging their strengths to provide flexibility and improved performance. This approach is adaptable to various scenarios, making it suitable for versatile environments and large-scale heterogeneous networks. However, it also introduces design complexity and potential overhead [17, 18, 13].



Figure 2.5: Hybrid Topology in WSNs.

The energy consumption in hybrid topology can be expressed as:

$$E_{\rm hybrid} = E_{\rm star} + E_{\rm mesh} - E_{\rm overlap}$$

where E_{overlap} accounts for the overlapping energy consumption between star and mesh components [17, 18].

2.6 WSN Communication Standards and Specifications

WSNs rely on a variety of communication standards and specifications to ensure efficient and reliable data transmission. These standards address the unique challenges posed by WSNs, such as limited energy resources, low data rates, and the need for scalability.

2.6.1 IEEE 802.15.4

IEEE 802.15.4 is a fundamental standard that defines the physical and Medium Access Control (MAC) layers for low-rate wireless personal area networks (LR-WPANs). It serves as the foundation for many WSN communication protocols, providing specifications for frequency bands (868 MHz, 915 MHz, and 2.4 GHz), modulation schemes, and data rates. The standard also defines two types of nodes: full-function devices (FFDs) and reduced-function devices (RFDs). FFDs can act as network coordinators or end devices, while RFDs are limited to being end devices. IEEE 802.15.4's low power consumption and flexibility make it a popular choice for WSNs in various applications [13, 5, 23].

2.6.2 ZigBee

ZigBee is a widely adopted communication protocol built upon the IEEE 802.15.4 standard [25]. It is specifically designed for low-power, low-data-rate applications and is well-suited for WSNs due to its energy efficiency and ability to support mesh networking. ZigBee operates in the 2.4 GHz ISM band and offers a communication range of typically 10 meters, which can be extended through multi-hop communication [4]. It provides various network topologies, including star, tree, and mesh, allowing for flexible network configurations [3]. ZigBee's self-organizing and self-healing capabilities make it a robust and reliable choice for WSNs in diverse environments [15, 25].

2.6.3 Bluetooth and Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE)

Bluetooth, a widely used wireless technology standard, enables short-range communication between devices [17]. While primarily designed for applications like audio streaming and data transfer between mobile devices, Bluetooth can also be utilized in WSNs, especially for scenarios that demand higher data rates [5]. Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE), a low-power variant of Bluetooth, is particularly well-suited for WSNs due to its reduced energy consumption and extended battery life [26]. BLE operates in the 2.4 GHz ISM band and offers a communication range of up to 100 meters [26]. Its low-power characteristics and compatibility with various devices make it a versatile option for WSNs in healthcare, fitness tracking, and smart home applications.

2.6.4 6LoWPAN

6LoWPAN (IPv6 over Low-Power Wireless Personal Area Networks) is a protocol that enables the transmission of IPv6 packets over LR-WPANs [17, 27]. This is crucial for WSNs that need to connect to the Internet or other IP-based networks [17,

27]. 6LoWPAN compresses IPv6 headers and fragments packets to fit the limited frame size of LR-WPANs, ensuring efficient communication [27]. It also provides mechanisms for addressing, routing, and security, making it a comprehensive solution for WSNs in the IoT ecosystem.

2.6.5 Other Emerging Standards

In addition to the established standards previously discussed, several emerging standards are gaining traction in the WSN domain. These include Thread, a newer protocol based on IEEE 802.15.4 that utilizes IPv6 addressing and offers robust security through AES encryption [26]; Z-Wave, a proprietary wireless communication protocol primarily used for home automation, known for its long-range capabilities and interoperability between devices from different manufacturers [26]; LoRaWAN (Long Range Wide Area Network), a low-power wide-area network technology that enables long-range communication between devices, making it suitable for WSNs deployed over large geographical areas [26]; and NB-IoT (Narrowband IoT) and LTE-M (Long Term Evolution for Machines), cellular technologies designed for low-power IoT devices, offering wide coverage and reliable connectivity for WSNs [26].

The provided Table ?? offers a comprehensive comparative analysis of various communication protocols pertinent to the Internet of Things (IoT). This analysis covers several critical attributes: transport protocols, messaging models, security measures, Quality of Service (QoS), application levels, data rates, power consumption, latency, and scalability. The protocols examined include CoAP, MQTT, XMPP, AMQP, DDS, 6LoWPAN, NB-IoT, 5G NR, BLE, Zigbee, Thread, IEEE 802.15.4, Z-Wave, and LoRaWAN.

The transport protocols range from UDP and TCP to proprietary protocols, which form the foundation of the communication mechanisms. Messaging models differ, encompassing request/response, publish/subscribe, and client/server architectures, each influencing data exchange methods. Security implementations feature DTLS 1.3, TLS 1.3, SASL, IPsec, and various AES encryption standards, ensuring data integrity and confidentiality.

QoS features are essential for maintaining reliable communication, including block transfer, QoS levels, stream management, fine-grained QoS, and powersaving modes. Application levels extend across devices, gateways, and platforms, indicating the protocols' adaptability to different network layers. Data rates vary from low (<1 Mbps) to high, affecting communication speed. Power consumption is categorized from very low to high, which is crucial for battery-operated IoT devices. Latency and scalability are also assessed, reflecting the protocols' efficiency and capacity to manage network growth and complexity.

This detailed comparison underscores the importance of selecting the appropriate

protocol based on specific application requirements, balancing factors such as security, power efficiency, and network performance. This selection process is pivotal for optimizing the performance and reliability of IoT networks [13, 15, 25, 26, 5, 23, 3].

Protocol	Transport Protocol	Messaging Model	Data Rate	Latency	Scalability
CoAP $[5]$	UDP	Request/Response	Low (<1 Mbps)	Low	Moderate
MQTT [28]	TCP	Publish/Subscribe, Username/Pass- word	Medium	Low	High
XMPP $[5]$	TCP	Publish/Subscribe, Client/Server	Medium	Medium	High
AMQP [28]	TCP	Publish/Subscribe, Point-to-Point	Medium	Medium	High
DDS [29]	UDP (Optional TCP)	Publish/Subscribe	High	Very Low	High
6LoWPAN [27]	UDP	Adaptation Layer	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Low (<1)} \\ \text{Mbps)} \end{array}$	Low	Moderate
NB-IoT [30]	UDP	Service Layer	Medium	Medium	High
5G NR [30]	UDP	Service Layer	High	Low	High
BLE [26]	Proprietary	GATT	Low	Low	Moderate
Zigbee [15]	Proprietary	$\mathrm{Star}/\mathrm{Mesh}/\mathrm{Tree}$	Low	Low	High
Thread [29]	IEEE 802.15.4	Mesh	Low	Low	High
Z-Wave $[5]$	Proprietary	Mesh	Low	Low	Moderate
LoRaWAN [1]	Proprietary	Star	Low	Low	High

 Table 2.1: Comparative Analysis of Communication Protocols - Part 1

Protocol	Security	QoS	Application Level	Power Con- sumption
CoAP $[5]$	DTLS 1.3	Observe, Block Transfer	Device, Gateway	Very Low
MQTT [28]	TLS 1.3	QoS Levels (0, 1, 2), Last Will	Device, Gateway	Medium
XMPP [5]	TLS 1.3, SASL	Stream Man- agement, Message Pri- oritization	Device, Gateway, Platform	Medium
AMQP [28]	TLS 1.3, SASL	Transactions, Message Durability	Device, Gateway, Platform	Medium
DDS [29]	Fine-Grained QoS (Reliability, Deadline, Liveliness)	Fine- Grained QoS (Reliability, Deadline, Liveliness)	Device, Gateway, Platform	Medium
6LoWPAN [27]	IPsec	Header Com- pression, Fragmenta- tion	Device, Gateway	Low
NB-IoT [30]	LTE/5G Security	Power Saving Mode, eDRX/PSM	Device, Gateway	Very Low
5G NR [30]	5G Security (Network Slicing, Authentication)	$\begin{array}{l} \text{URLLC,} \\ \text{eMBB,} \\ \text{mMTC} \end{array}$	Device, Gateway	Medium
BLE [26]	AES-CCM	Adaptive Frequency Hopping, Power Control	Device	Very Low
Zigbee [15]	AES-128	Low Latency, Green Power	Device, Gateway	Low
Thread [29]	AES-128	Low Latency, IP Routing	Device, Gateway	Very Low
Z-Wave [5]	S2 Security Framework	Low Power, Reliable	Device, Gateway	Very Low
LoRaWAN [1]	AES-128	Adaptive ¹⁷ Data Rate, Low Power	Device, Gateway	Very Low

Table 2.2: Comparative Analysis of Communication Protocols - Part

As illustrated in Tables 2.1 and 2.2, various communication protocols exhibit distinct characteristics in terms of transport mechanisms, security features, quality of service, and scalability.

2.7 Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs)

WBANs are similar to WSNs but are specifically designed for use on and around the human body. While both involve a network of sensors that collect and transmit data, WBANs are tailored to monitor physiological parameters continuously and in real-time. These networks face unique challenges due to the dynamic nature of the human body, including variable sensor positioning and movement [31].

WBANs play a pivotal role in modern healthcare by enabling continuous monitoring of physiological parameters through a network of tiny biomedical sensors. These sensors, which possess limited energy, memory, and computational capabilities, are strategically positioned on or around the human body. Efficient management and control of these networks are challenging, particularly in large-scale deployments for remote healthcare monitoring. The integration of IoT and cloud computing technologies offers promising solutions by providing extensive data storage, computational power, and processing utilities at lower costs. This technology, alongside appropriate sensors to extract the data, is particularly beneficial for elderly individuals and patients with chronic conditions such as PD [31, 32, 33].

2.7.1 Architecture

The design and implementation of WBANs for monitoring chronic diseases such as PD rely heavily on the effective use of specific OSI model layers to ensure efficient and reliable data transmission [34]. The physical layer focuses on lowpower communication to extend the battery life of wearable sensors. The data link layer is crucial for error detection and correction, ensuring the accuracy and integrity of the transmitted health data. Efficient routing protocols in the network layer handle the dynamic and mobile nature of WBANs, facilitating continuous and real-time monitoring. The application layer leverages advanced AI and machine learning algorithms for data analysis, providing real-time insights and alerts critical for managing PD [35, 7, 36].

Recent advancements highlight the benefits of adopting a four-layer architecture, which has become the most common approach in WBAN design for chronic disease monitoring. This architecture effectively integrates functionalities across the physical, data link, network, and application layers, balancing efficiency and reliability. This approach ensures robust data transmission and real-time analysis, making it highly suitable for chronic disease management. Studies have shown that this four-layer model enhances overall system performance and patient care outcomes by addressing key challenges such as energy consumption, data integrity, and real-time processing [10, 37, 33].

The figure below illustrates this four-layer architecture, detailing the specific functions of each layer:



4 LAYER ARCHITECTURE OF WBAN

Figure 2.6: Four-layer architecture of WBANs for chronic disease monitoring.

2.7.2 Three-Tier Architecture

The architecture of WBANs is systematically categorized into three tiers: intra-WBAN, inter-WBAN, and beyond-WBAN. As illustrated in the provided figure [38], intra-WBAN involves communication between sensors placed on or around the human body and a personal device. These sensors capture physiological data and transmit it either directly to the personal device or through intermediate nodes. Inter-WBAN encompasses communication between the personal device and access points (AP) using wireless technologies such as Bluetooth, ZigBee, or Wi-Fi, thereby serving as a bridge to broader networks [33]. Beyond-WBAN pertains to communication between the AP and remote medical centers, where data from multiple WBANs are stored and processed in cloud data centers for access by healthcare professionals [35, Ch. 2].



Figure 2.7: Three-tier architecture for WBANs

This three-tier architecture enables continuous health monitoring, reduces the necessity for hospital stays, and facilitates timely medical feedback, proving highly beneficial for managing chronic diseases [38]. Advances in microprocessors, wireless interfaces, and battery technologies are critical for the widespread adoption of WBANs, addressing the increasing demand for efficient and cost-effective health monitoring solutions. Specific frequency bands have been allocated to WBANs to ensure reliable communication and minimize interference with other wireless technologies. Recent innovations include the integration of Low Power Wide Area Network (LPWAN) technologies, such as NB-IoT and LTE-M, alongside the exploration of innovative energy harvesting techniques that provide sustainable power sources for WBAN sensors, thereby reducing dependency on batteries and extending the operational lifespan of the network [35, 33, 38].
2.8 Routing in WBANs



Figure 2.8: Challenges faced during routing in WBANs

Generally, routing is the process of identifying the most efficient path for data to traverse from one node to another within a network. However, networks face several challenges during this process. The figure [39] shows the primary challenges faced during routing in networks, including limited resources, security, network partitioning, quality of service (QoS), and energy efficiency [39]. Each challenge impacts the reliability and efficiency of data transmission across the network [39, 16].

Additionally, the optimal routing protocol for a WBAN depends on multiple

factors, including the network size, node mobility, and link quality [40, 39]. To address these issues, routing protocols should be developed to eliminate or minimize these obstacles. Various routing protocols have been developed to address these challenges, which we will discuss in the following section.

2.8.1 Network Partitioning

WBANs often experience network partitioning due to the short transmission range and postural changes. This can disrupt data routing to the coordinator. Protocols addressing network partitioning typically incorporate backup pathways to ensure data transmission continuity. For instance, some approaches use body-coupled communication (BCC) as a secondary pathway, leveraging the human body as a medium to maintain connectivity when the primary RF link fails [39]. Each sensor node may have a main path and a backup path; the backup path is used in emergencies or when the primary path fails, ensuring robust communication [6].

2.8.2 Energy Efficiency

Energy efficiency is critical in WBANs due to the difficulty of replacing batteries in body-embedded nodes. Energy consumption is predominantly due to inter-node communication rather than data processing [38]. Dynamic routing protocols, which adapt the data paths based on current network conditions, can enhance energy efficiency and extend network lifespan [41, 6]. For example, frameworks that balance QoS constraints and dynamic link features have shown promise in improving energy management in WBANs [6]. The lifespan of a network is often defined as the period from deployment until the first node's battery is exhausted [6].

2.8.3 Quality of Service (QoS)

Meeting QoS requirements is essential in WBANs, especially for critical medical data [34, 32, 6]. QoS parameters include packet delivery ratio, throughput, packet drop ratio, and latency. Different types of medical data, such as normal, emergency, delay-sensitive, and reliability-sensitive data, necessitate distinct QoS considerations [34, 31]. Systems designed to maximize energy efficiency while ensuring QoS typically prioritize the delivery of emergency packets over regular data to meet stricter performance criteria [6]. For instance, a system that adjusts transmission rates dynamically to maintain QoS performance in terms of packet loss rate (PLR), latency, and throughput is critical [6].

2.8.4 Privacy and Security

Ensuring data privacy and security is a fundamental requirement in WBANs. Traditional security measures are often unsuitable due to the limited resources of WBAN nodes. Effective routing protocols must incorporate encryption and authorization mechanisms to protect sensitive medical data from unauthorized access [41]. Techniques like phantom routing can enhance source location anonymity by creating decoy data paths, thus increasing overall network security [39]. Ensuring that only authorized personnel can access patient data is crucial, given the sensitivity of medical information [41, 39].

2.8.5 Limited Resources

The restricted resources of WBANs, such as short RF transmission range, low bandwidth, limited computing power, and inadequate storage capacity, necessitate careful protocol design. Routing protocols must efficiently manage these constraints to maintain network performance. Developing protocols that can dynamically adapt to varying conditions, minimizing the impact of resource limitations, is widely common [6, 39]. When designing WBAN routing protocols, researchers must consider these limitations to create efficient and reliable communication systems.

2.9 Routing Protocols

[Note: Write a short paragraph explaining the importance and types of routing protocols in WBANs. Include any necessary introductory information before detailing specific protocols.]



Figure 2.9: Routing Protocols for WBAN

2.9.1 Clustering in Wireless Body Area Networks

Clustering is an essential technique in WBANs designed to enhance network efficiency and reliability by optimizing data transmission and energy consumption [33, 16]. Clustering involves organizing sensor nodes into distinct groups, each managed by a Cluster Head (CH). The CH is responsible for aggregating data from all nodes within its cluster and forwarding this data to higher-level nodes, such as Gateways (GW), which then transmit the information to remote Medical Servers (MS). This hierarchical organization reduces communication overhead and energy consumption by minimizing the distance data must travel and consolidating transmissions, thereby enhancing overall network performance [34].

2.9.2 Intra-cluster

Intra-cluster communication involves direct communication between nodes and their respective CHs using low-power transmissions. This method conserves energy and minimizes interference with other clusters [RN6].

2.9.3 Inter-cluster Communication

Inter-cluster communication entails CHs communicating with one another or directly with the sink using higher transmission power, facilitating efficient multi-hop communication across the WBAN [26].

2.9.4 Challenges in Clustering

Despite these advantages, implementing clustered routing protocols in WBANs is not without its challenges. One of the primary difficulties lies in the complexity of CH selection. Developing dynamic CH selection algorithms that adapt to realtime network conditions can be computationally intensive. Furthermore, CHs can become energy bottlenecks due to their additional responsibilities, necessitating efficient energy management strategies. As the number of nodes increases, maintaining efficient communication and energy management becomes more challenging, highlighting issues related to scalability and overhead. Adaptability to dynamic environments is another critical challenge. WBANs operate in highly dynamic settings, necessitating protocols that can swiftly adapt to changes in network topology and node mobility [26, 33, 34, 16].

2.9.5 Trust-Based Energy-Efficient and Reliable Communication Scheme

The Trust-Based Energy-Efficient and Reliable Communication Scheme (Trust-Based ERCS) leverages clustering to ensure that data transmission is both secure and efficient [42, 24]. This trust-based selection process enhances the overall robust-ness and efficiency of the WBAN, ensuring secure and reliable data transmission while conserving energy resources [42, 24].

2.9.6 Distributed Energy-Efficient Clustering and Routing (DECR)

The DECR (Distributed Energy-Efficient Clustering and Routing) protocol exemplifies a sophisticated clustering methodology that leverages two-hop neighbor information to improve network stability and energy efficiency. In networking, a "hop" refers to the passage of data from one network node to the next. In the context of WBANs, minimizing the number of hops can significantly reduce energy consumption and latency, as each hop typically requires additional power and time for data transmission [34, 42].

By prioritizing nodes with optimal connectivity and energy levels, DECR balances energy consumption across the network and extends network lifetime [34].

2.9.7 Genetic Algorithm-Based CH Selection

Similarly, the scheme proposed by [24] employs a genetic algorithm to optimize the selection of CHs based on multiple factors, including residual energy, energy consumption rates, distance to the SDN controller, signal-to-noise ratio, and path loss. This optimization process minimizes network delay and enhances data transmission efficiency [24]. The genetic algorithm's ability to dynamically adapt to changing network conditions results in significant improvements in network stability and reliability, making ERQTM particularly effective in maintaining prolonged network lifetime and high-quality service in WBANs [24].

2.9.8 Energy Trust Assessment Scheme (ETAS)

Furthermore, [16] (ETAS) introduces a multi-faceted trust evaluation framework that incorporates communication trust, data trust, and energy trust. This clustering approach significantly improves data transmission and resource utilization. By leveraging successful interaction rates and historical misbehavior, ETAS dynamically adjusts trust parameters to enhance reliability and security while maintaining low resource consumption. Packet delivery ratio (PDR), showing an improvement of 11% and 16.66% over PSTRM and BAN-TRUST respectively, when 10% of nodes are selfish, and even higher improvements as the percentage of malicious nodes increases. These results underscore the significant benefits of the clustering mechanism within ETAS, making it an effective solution for secure and efficient WBANs [16].

2.9.9 Trust-based Intrusion Detection and Clustering

Another approach called "Trust-based Intrusion Detection and Clustering for Wireless Body Area Networks" has been proposed to facilitate efficient transmission of vital medical data in open environments. The cluster head in each group is selected using a multi-objective firefly algorithm. This method employs hybrid encryption to protect sensitive data and utilizes target functions to boost throughput. Simulations using NS-2 show promising results in terms of packet delivery ratio (PDR), delay, precision, and recall [43].

2.9.10 Summary of Clustering Benefits

Clustering plays a pivotal role in managing resource constraints and enhancing the robustness of WBANs. By systematically selecting CHs based on trust and efficiency metrics, clustering ensures reliable data transmission, which is crucial for healthcare applications. The hierarchical structure provided by clustering reduces the frequency of long-distance transmissions, thereby conserving energy and extending the operational life of sensor nodes. This is particularly important in WBANs, where sensor nodes are often resource-constrained and energy efficiency is critical to sustaining long-term operation [34], [42], [24], [16], [43].

Protocol	Key Features	Advantages
LEACH [34, 42]	Randomized CH selection, periodic rotation	Simplicity, energy efficiency
HEED [24]	Residual energy and node proximity in CH selection	Improved stability and efficiency
TARA [16]	Thermal awareness in routing decisions	Avoids node overheating
EEBCDA [43]	Energy-efficient clustering and data aggregation	Balances energy consumption
DECR [44]	Two-hop neighbor-based clustering, dynamic CH selection	Enhanced PDR, energy efficiency, cluster lifetime
CBBAP [14]	Efficient clustering for enhanced transmission and energy efficiency	Energy-efficient, suitable for body area networks
HIT [45]	Combines direct and indirect transmission strategies	Optimized routing, balances energy consumption and data reliability

Table 2.3:	Comparative A	Analysis of	Clustering	Protocols -	Part 1	1
------------	---------------	-------------	------------	-------------	--------	---

Protocol	Limitations	Performance Metrics (Simulation)
LEACH [34, 42]	Lacks WBAN-specific considerations	Moderate energy efficiency, moderate network lifetime
HEED $[24]$	Not optimal for dynamic environments	High energy efficiency, longer network lifetime
TARA [16]	Not focused on energy balancing	High network lifetime, temperature management
EEBCDA [43]	Complexity in implementation	High energy efficiency, balanced energy load
DECR [44]	Complexity in dynamic environments	Highest PDR, lowest energy consumption, highest residual energy, longest cluster lifetime
CBBAP $[14]$	Limited to specific scenarios	Moderate energy efficiency, suitable for targeted applications
HIT [45]	Complex implementation, limited to certain environments	High energy efficiency, reliable data transmission

 Table 2.4:
 Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Part 2

2.9.11 Cross-Layered Routing Protocol

Clustering plays a pivotal role in managing resource constraints and enhancing the robustness of Wireless Body Area Networks (WBANs). By systematically selecting Cluster Heads (CHs) based on trust and efficiency metrics, clustering ensures reliable data transmission, which is crucial for healthcare applications. The hierarchical structure provided by clustering reduces the frequency of long-distance transmissions, thereby conserving energy and extending the operational life of sensor nodes. This is particularly important in WBANs, where sensor nodes are often resource-constrained and energy efficiency is critical to sustaining long-term operation [34, 42, 24, 16, 43].

Protocol	Objectives
CICADA[46]	Efficient data transmission and slot assignment for optimized communication
TICOSS[46]	Energy efficiency through coordinated sleep scheduling
WASP[46]	Creation of efficient communication paths using spanning trees
AODV- ECOA[46]	Reduces control overhead and energy consumption, improves QoS
PCLRP[46]	Prioritizes data based on urgency to improve QoS for critical health data

 Table 2.5: Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Objectives

 Table 2.6:
 Comparative Analysis of Clustering Protocols - Limitations

Protocol	Limitations
CICADA[46]	Increased complexity in slot management, potential synchronization issues
TICOSS[46]	Potential delays in data transmission due to sleep schedules
WASP[46]	Overhead in maintaining the spanning tree structure, may not adapt quickly to network changes
AODV- ECOA[46]	Requires careful tuning to balance control overhead and data delivery performance
PCLRP[46]	Complexity in managing priorities and potential higher energy consumption

2.9.12 Security Responsive Routing Protocol

In the context of Internet of Things (IoT) networks, Quality of Service (QoS) is crucial due to the diverse and often stringent requirements of different applications, such as multimedia streaming, healthcare, and surveillance [5, 4]. Similarly, in WBANs, QoS-aware routing protocols are designed to ensure that the performance of critical applications is maintained by managing network resources and traffic effectively [39].

One of the primary goals of a security-aware routing protocol within WBANs is to ensure privacy and reliable data routing [6]. Medical data from patients are periodically monitored using body sensor devices and subsequently categorized based on content and sensitivity level. This categorized data is then transmitted from the sink node to the medical center, enabling medical professionals to remotely monitor and treat patients [47]. Various algorithms and protocols play significant roles in enhancing QoS and security in WBANs. Tables 2.7 and 2.8 summarize some key algorithms, their objectives, and their limitations [39, 47, 48, 41, 6].

 Table 2.7:
 Comparative Analysis of Routing Protocols - Objectives

Protocol	Objectives
EPPA[39]	Privacy-preserving data aggregation
MPPA[39]	Secure data aggregation using non-addition methods
P-AEEF[48]	Protect patient data from unauthorized access
LAEEBA[41]	Maintain link quality and optimize energy consumption
$\mathrm{DMQoS}[6]$	Address multiple QoS objectives like minimizing delay and maximizing throughput
CLEE[6]	Enhance link reliability and reduce energy usage through cooperative strategies

 Table 2.8: Comparative Analysis of Routing Protocols - Limitations

Protocol	Limitations
EPPA[39]	Supports only addition aggregation, increases communication overhead
MPPA[47]	Higher energy consumption than EPPA due to the complexity of using multiple aggregation methods
P-AEEF[48]	High energy consumption due to the use of intensive security measures, potentially reducing the lifespan of sensor nodes
LAEEBA[41]	May not address all types of QoS requirements simultaneously
DMQoS[6]	High complexity and may require significant computational resources
CLEE[6]	Complexity of implementation and potential synchronization issues

2.9.13 Temperature Aware Routing Protocol

Radio signals from wireless technologies generate magnetic and electric fields, increasing temperature in implanted sensor nodes, potentially damaging tissues and organs [39]. The specific absorption rate (SAR) quantifies this absorbed radio frequency [39]. Temperature-aware routing protocols aim to mitigate this temperature increase [39, 41]. The Least Total Route Temperature Protocol (LTRT) is highly effective, while the Temperature Aware Routing Algorithm (TARA) is less so [41].

Thermal-aware routing is crucial for WBANs as biosensors emit potentially harmful electromagnetic radiation during communication [41]. The Thermal-Aware Routing Algorithm (TARA) identifies overheated nodes and reroutes data but faces challenges in network lifetime and reliability [41]. The Least Total Route Temperature (LTRT) algorithm, combining shortest-path and least temperature routing, selects routes based on the lowest temperature path, considering dynamic temperature changes in nodes [41].

2.9.14 Postural-Movement Based Routing Protocol

Network partitioning in WBANs, caused by body movements, can disrupt data links and hinder routing [39]. Posture-based routing protocols aim to minimize delays in data transmission from sensor nodes to sink nodes, adapting to these changes in connectivity [39].

On-Body Store and Flood Routing (OBSFR) is one such protocol, designed to reduce energy consumption and data delays by sending multiple copies of packets through different paths, ensuring reliable transmission despite potential network partitioning [39]. Other posture-based protocols establish stable paths between nodes and the base station, considering the dynamic nature of the body to minimize transmission costs [41]. The opportunistic routing algorithm further addresses this issue by leveraging relay nodes to simplify data transmission between sensors and the sink hub on the wrist, adapting to changes in wrist position during movement [41]. In Figure **??**, each subplot corresponds to one of the activities including standing, sitting, walking, and sleeping. The variations are in RSS [46].



Figure 2.10: RSS Variations Across Different Activities

Chapter 3

Conceptual Framework and System Design

3.1 Parkinson's Disease (PD)

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is a prevalent neurodegenerative disorder, currently ranked as the second most common disease globally, significantly impacting the elderly population, particularly individuals over the age of 60 [49, 50]. The exact cause of PD remains unknown while generic, environmental factors and age play important role in the risk of disease progression [50]. PD is characterized by a debilitating combination of motor and non-motor symptoms. Motor impairments such as bradykinesia (slowness of movement), rigidity, resting tremor, and gait disturbances significantly impact patients' quality of life [51, 52, 53]. Gait abnormalities, including reduced stride length, shuffling steps, and abnormal plantar force distribution, are particularly problematic and can lead to increased falls and injuries [51]. Additionally, PD patients often experience non-motor symptoms such as sleep disorders, nocturnal hypokinesia (reduced nighttime movement), and morning akinesia, which can further diminish their overall well-being [53]. A list of most common motor and non-motor symptoms is shown in Figure 3.1 below.

3.2 Challenges in PD Management

Managing PD presents multifaceted challenges attributable to the disease's intricate and progressive nature. This section elucidates the primary obstacles encountered in PD management, encompassing symptom heterogeneity, limitations of current assessment tools, and the complexities associated with medication side effects and individualized treatment strategies.



Figure 3.1: Most Common Motor and Non-Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease

3.2.1 Heterogeneity and Progression of Symptoms

PD symptoms vary significantly between individuals and can evolve unpredictably over time [52, 53]. This heterogeneity poses challenges for both diagnosis and treatment, necessitating personalized approaches to address the unique needs of each patient [52]. Moreover, the progressive nature of PD implies that symptoms intensify over time, mandating continual adjustments to therapeutic interventions and necessitating ongoing monitoring to track disease progression accurately [53].

3.2.2 Limitations of Current Assessment Tools

Traditional clinical assessments for PD predominantly rely on subjective evaluations and patient-reported outcomes, which may not fully capture the breadth and depth of motor and non-motor symptoms [53]. Laboratory-based evaluations of gait and balance, while informative, may not capture the full extent of functional impairments in real-world settings [51]. Furthermore, Sleep disorders are frequently underdiagnosed due to the reliance on subjective sleep diaries and the limited availability of specialized sleep studies [53]. These limitations underscore the imperative for more objective, continuous, and real-time assessment tools to enhance the accuracy and comprehensiveness of PD symptom monitoring.

3.2.3 Medication Side Effects and Individualized Treatment

Pharmacological interventions, particularly the administration of levodopa, are efficacious in managing motor symptoms during the early stages of PD. However, prolonged use of such medications is often accompanied by adverse effects, including dyskinesia (involuntary movements), confusion, and hallucinations [52]. These side effects complicate long-term management, necessitating the development of personalized treatment plans that judiciously balance the therapeutic benefits of medications with their potential risks. Individualized treatment strategies are essential to optimize symptom control while minimizing adverse effects, thereby enhancing the overall quality of life for PD patients [52].

3.3 Current Trends in Technology

Advancements in technology are increasingly being harnessed to ameliorate the management of PD through innovative solutions. Wearable sensors and the Internet of Things (IoT) are at the forefront of these developments, facilitating continuous real-world monitoring of both motor and non-motor symptoms [54, 4, 38, 10]. This shift addresses the limitations of traditional clinical assessments and the need for personalized treatment approaches [55, 10].

In a systematic literature review (SLR) conducted in [56], he efficacy of devices equipped with Inertial Measurement Units (IMUs) and other sensors was examined, highlighting their capacity to continuously monitor patient movements and provide detailed data on motor symptoms such as tremors, bradykinesia, and gait abnormalities. These devices enable real-time tracking and assessment of PD symptoms, thereby facilitating more accurate and timely medical interventions. The integration of such personalized monitoring solutions is paramount for achieving optimal symptom control and enhancing patient outcomes [56, 39, 36].

3.4 Introduction to the PRIMULA Project

Recent advancements in IoT-based healthcare and WBAN have significantly addressed gaps in PD management. Wearable devices offer personalized and empowering solutions for patients by leveraging cutting-edge technologies. These devices integrate advanced sensors, miniaturized electronics, and sophisticated algorithms to collect, transmit, and analyze health data, enabling proactive health management and informed decision-making [22, 19].

3.5 Problem Statement

This thesis work, the PRIMULA, addresses the critical challenges inherenet in WBAN designs through a comprehensive review and the selection of effective protocols across various layers of the OSI model for asynchronous sensor networks designed for conceptual wearable devices. This conceptual framework integrates the Network Time Protocol (NTP) for precise time synchronization and the Message Queuing Telemetry Transport (MQTT) protocol for reliable real-time data transmission. Achieving precise synchronization between asynchronous sensor nodes is essential in applications like motion capture or gait analysis, where accurate timing and coordination between multiple IMUs are crucial for reconstructing movement patterns [57, 58]. In real-world applications, synchronization issues such as clock drift, network dependency, and elevated power consumption present significant obstacles to maintaining accurate timing across distributed sensor networks. Existing solutions often face limitations such as clock drift, network dependency, and increased power consumption, thereby complicating the maintenance of precise synchronization.

In real-world applications, synchronization issues such as clock drift, network dependency, and elevated power consumption present significant obstacles to maintaining accurate timing across distributed sensor networks. NTP is selected for its high accuracy in synchronizing clocks across a network, typically achieving synchronization within milliseconds. This level of accuracy is vital for ensuring accurate data correlation from multiple sensors. Furthermore, NTP is widely adopted, scalable, and well-suited for environments demanding precise timing, such as WBANs. The PRIMULA system employs a laptop as the NTP server to provide accurate timestamps, thereby ensuring synchronized data collection from sensor nodes. This approach is rigorously tested and validated through experimental setups, demonstrating efficient synchronization and data transmission with minimal delay. Although a hybrid approach combining NTP with beaconing might offer enhanced synchronization, it is not implemented in the current project [57, 59].

Wi-Fi is chosen for its ability to handle higher data rates and provide stable connections over relatively long distances, making it suitable for continuous monitoring in WBANs. Its built-in capabilities in the Raspberry Pi Pico W enhance system reliability without requiring additional communication modules. Compared to BLE, Wi-Fi offers superior data rate, range, and security, which are critical for high-data-rate applications despite BLE's low latency and power consumption advantages [25, 5, 32].

To manage continuous data streams efficiently, a circular buffer is implemented, preventing data loss and ensuring smooth data processing. The MQTT protocol, known for its lightweight and low-bandwidth characteristics, supports reliable communication through various QoS levels, making it ideal for real-time monitoring applications. The integration of a watchdog timer further enhances system reliability by monitoring operations and resetting the microcontroller during anomalies, ensuring continuous operation. Extensive testing validates the system's performance, demonstrating its capability to achieve reliable data transmission with minimal delay, thereby making it suitable for real-time monitoring of PD patients. Detailed descriptions of the testing and validation processes are elaborated in Chapter 4 [58].

In essence, real-time monitoring and data aggregation are critical for effective patient care [36]. MQTT's efficiency in low-bandwidth conditions and its ability to handle asynchronous nodes make it an excellent choice for this project, providing a comprehensive view of the patient's condition. For future work, cloud-based processing could further enhance scalability and flexibility, enabling continuous monitoring and timely interventions. Based on real-world implementations, MQTT facilitates scalable and resilient communication in IoT ecosystems, supporting both single-node and multi-node deployments. Future work could focus on patient data from real-world scenarios, testing the system with additional nodes equipped with IMUs and modules for the central node, and exploring hybrid communication protocols alongside routing and aggregating algorithms to optimize power consumption and improve overall performance.

3.6 System Design and Architecture

The proposed system integrates hardware and software components designed to meet the project's objectives. A modular approach is adopted to facilitate scalability, flexibility, and ease of integration with additional sensors and functionalities in future work.

3.6.1 Hardware Components

At the core of the Primula framework is the Raspberry Pi Pico W microcontroller, which is chosen for its cost-effectiveness and solid capabilities in real-time IoT applications. At the heart of the Pico W is the ARM Cortex M0+ processor, renowned for its efficiency in constrained embedded applications, the smallest ARM processor available [60]. This microcontroller integrates several key features that make it particularly suited for the PRIMULA.

First and foremost, the Raspberry Pi Pico W boasts an on-board ADC, allowing for precise conversion of analog signals to digital data. In fact, this capability is crucial for the accurate processing of sensor inputs, ensuring high data integrity. Although the ADC relies on the 3.3V Switching Mode Power Supply (SMPS) output for accuracy, performance can be significantly enhanced by employing techniques such as driving the SMPS mode pin high or utilizing an external 3.0V shunt reference to minimize noise and offset [61].

In addition to the ADC, the Pico W includes integrated Wi-Fi, facilitating seamless wireless communication without the need for additional external modules. This feature enhances the system's reliability and reduces the complexity of the hardware design. The Wi-Fi module supports 2.4GHz wireless interfaces, making it suitable for various network configurations [61].

To further ensure the system's reliability, the Raspberry Pi Pico W incorporates a watchdog timer. This feature is essential for maintaining system stability, as it allows the system to recover from potential hang-ups during data acquisition and processing. Alongside this, circular buffering is employed to manage the continuous stream of data from the ADC efficiently. This method prevents data loss and ensures smooth and consistent data processing [61, 53].

Additionally, the firmware incorporates advanced techniques to ensure data integrity and reliability, including error detection algorithms, data validation processes, and redundancy mechanisms. These methods encompass checksum verification, parity checks, and data encryption to safeguard against data corruption and unauthorized access. By implementing these techniques, the PRIMULA system not only maintains the accuracy of the collected data but also ensures its secure transmission, thereby enhancing overall system reliability.

Overall, the Raspberry Pi Pico W's amalgamation of powerful processing capabilities, integrated wireless connectivity, efficient analog-to-digital conversion, and enhanced system reliability makes it an ideal choice for the PRIMULA project. This microcontroller underpins the project's objective to develop a robust real-time monitoring solution for Parkinson's patients, ensuring both high performance and user-friendly operation.

3.6.2 Pinout Diagram



Figure 3.2: This diagram illustrates the layout of the GPIO pins, highlighting their various functions including power, ground, UART, SPI, I2C, PWM, ADC, and system control, providing a detailed reference for the hardware setup.



Figure 3.3: Real-world setup of the Raspberry Pi Pico W.

3.7 Software Components

3.7.1 Arduino IDE

The development environment for the PRIMULA firmware is the Arduino Integrated Development Environment (IDE). This is selected for its user-friendly interface, extensive library support, and compatibility with the Raspberry Pi Pico W microcontroller. This selection provides the developer with access to a vast repository of pre-built functions and examples.

The firmware is authored in C/C++, leveraging the rich array of libraries available within this ecosystem. The utilization of these libraries streamlines the implementation of advanced features such as Wi-Fi communication, MQTT data transmission, and time synchronization using NTP. Moreover, the modular nature of the Arduino IDE allows for scalable and maintainable code development, which is essential for the evolving needs of the PRIMULA system.

3.8 Data Flow in PRIMULA

For the sake of understanding how data moves through the system, Figure 3.4 outlines the sequential stages from data collection to pattern detection.



Figure 3.4: Data flow in PRIMULA from data collection to pattern detection.

The PRIMULA system's architecture for handling data is carefully designed to facilitate the process of gathering, aligning, and transmitting motion data from multiple IMUs distributed across different sensor nodes, referred to as "Sensor Node 1" and "Sensor Node 2."

The process begins with each sensor node recording movements that mimic the physical manifestations of PD symptoms, while simultaneously timestamping each data point using NTP. The synchronization function uses a method that gradually increases the interval between retries when there are issues, aiming to avoid network overload and maintain timing accuracy, which is crucial for correct data correlation.

After synchronization, the motion data from each sensor node is temporarily stored in separate circular buffers. These buffers are designed to manage continuous data flows and prevent data loss during transmission. Concurrently, the system employs duty cycling techniques, which allow the sensor nodes to alternate between active and low-power states to conserve energy without compromising data collection.

The motion data is then transmitted via the Raspberry Pi Pico W's built-in Wi-Fi modules, utilizing the MQTT protocol to ensure reliable message delivery. This setup is reinforced by mechanisms to prevent duplicate messages and robust recovery strategies to maintain data flow even in dynamic network conditions. Upon reaching the central server, the data is aggregated and synchronized using accurate timestamps provided by the NTP server, enabling real-time analysis and continuous monitoring.

To ensure system performance and reliability, the software records metrics such as the number of successfully transmitted MQTT messages, NTP synchronization attempts, and failures. These metrics provide concrete evidence of the system's operational effectiveness. Additionally, an inactivity detection system continuously monitors the system's status, ensuring the system remains connected and addressing any issues that may cause downtime. The software also includes comprehensive logging and debugging features, allowing detailed real-time inspection of the system's operation and stability over time.

Moreover, a button press simulation feature within the collectAndQueueReadings() function has been added, enabling automated tests of the data collection process to ensure the system works consistently without requiring manual operation.

In summary, the methodologies implemented in PRIMULA from precise time synchronization using exponential backoff, reliable MQTT communication with QoS Level 0 and 1, to validation metrics and testing establish a robust foundation for accurate, dependable, and efficient real-time monitoring of PD disease symptoms. This data flow architecture not only ensures reliable system performance but also paves the way for future expansion and the integration of advanced pattern detection algorithms.

Chapter 4 Implementation Prototype

This chapter details the practical implementation of the PRIMULA system, transitioning from conceptual design to a functional prototype. It encompasses system design and architecture, firmware development, comprehensive testing and validation, and concludes with insights and future enhancements.

4.1 System Design and Architecture

In this project designed specified for using a single-node setup and choosing components that fit its goals, which is designed with a modular approach to facilitate scalability, flexibility, and ease of integration for future work with additional sensors and functionalities. The system's modular design ensures precise data collection, synchronization, and transmission, addressing the critical challenges of real-time monitoring in our scenario.

Figure 4.1 shows the conceptual architecture of the PRIMULA system.



Conceptual Framework of the PRIMULA System

Figure 4.1: Conceptual architecture of the PRIMULA system.

4.1.1 Addressing Design Challenget

This subsection delves into the primary challenges encountered during the design phase and the methodologies employed to address them effectively.

Ensuring Precise Time Synchronization

Accurate time synchronization is crucial for correlating sensor data with realworld events, enabling meaningful analysis of PD symptoms. One of the primary challenges was maintaining precise synchronization with NTP server, particularly in environments with unstable network conditions.

To address this, the firmware integrates an *exponential backoff retry mechanism*, which progressively increases the delay between successive synchronization attempts following each failure. This strategy helps alleviate network congestion and improves the likelihood of successful synchronization. Additionally, during the prototype phase, a local NTP server is utilized to reduce latency and improve synchronization

accuracy, further ensuring precise data correlation.

Reliable Data Transmission

Ensuring data integrity and timely transmission is critical for making the collected physiological data available for analysis without loss or delay. The implementation of the MQTT protocol with QoS level 1 was strategically chosen to balance reliability and network efficiency.

Maintaining a stable connection to the MQTT broker, however, presented challenges, particularly in environments with intermittent network connectivity. To address these issues, the firmware includes robust error-handling mechanisms and automatic reconnection strategies. These mechanisms monitor the connection status and automatically initiate reconnection attempts upon detecting disconnections, ensuring continuous data transmission without requiring manual intervention.

Power Efficiency in PRIMULA System

The PRIMULA system, designed for prolonged use in medical monitoring, emphasizes power efficiency. This was achieved through optimized code, minimizing active processing time and putting the system into low-power sleep modes when idle. The Raspberry Pi Pico W was chosen specifically for its low power consumption. Additionally, memory was managed efficiently by employing appropriate data structures and avoiding excessive dynamic memory allocation, ensuring the system operates smoothly without unnecessary power use.

Scalability and Future Expansion

In fact, the modular design of the PRIMULA system was pivotal in addressing scalability challenges. By structuring the system in a modular manner, future expansions—such as integrating additional sensors or incorporating advanced data processing algorithms—can be implemented without significantly impacting the system's existing functionalities. This approach simplifies the introduction of new features and enhances the system's adaptability, ensuring that it can meet our scenario.

4.1.2 Flowchart

The operational framework of the PRIMULA system is depicted in the flowchart in Figure 4.2. This system is meticulously designed to collect and transmit timesynchronized measurements using NTP and MQTT protocols, ensuring precise timing and efficient data handling, which are critical components for real-time applications.



Figure 4.2: Flowchart of the PRIMULA system's operational framework.

Process Initiation and Data Collection

The initiation of the process commences upon the activation of the system. The activation of a button initiates the data collection phase, during which an external synchronization message is received. This message initiates the time synchronization process through NTP. For the purpose of this prototype, a local laptop is designated as the NTP server, guaranteeing a balance between reasonable accuracy in timekeeping and the avoidance of excessive precision.

Measurement and Data Queuing

Post-synchronization, the system collects the current time alongside the necessary measurements, subsequently storing this data in a queue. This queuing mechanism facilitates organized data handling, preparing the system for conditional data transmission.

Conditional Data Transmission

The system employs a dual-condition approach for data transmission. Firstly, data can be transmitted immediately upon a subsequent button press. Secondly, data is transmitted in batches when the queue accumulates ten data points. In either case, the data is encapsulated in an MQTT message and transmitted to the designated MQTT broker, ensuring reliable and efficient data delivery. After transmission, the queue is cleared, allowing for continuous data monitoring and collection.

System Continuity

This process operates in a loop, continuously monitoring for button presses and queue thresholds, thereby maintaining an uninterrupted data collection and transmission cycle until manual termination is initiated.

4.2 Firmware Development

The firmware is the heart of the PRIMULA system, managing everything from collecting data to sending it.

4.2.1 Firmware Development Objectives

The firmware was carefully designed to meet four main goals: making sure it works closely with NTP server to accurately time sensor data, creating strong and effective ways to send data to the MQTT broker to reduce errors and loss, using resources wisely to save power and make the microcontroller work better, and keeping the system fast and reliable when responding to user needs and events. These goals together make the firmware reliable, efficient, and able to handle the demands of real-time monitoring PD symptoms.

4.2.2 Libraries Dependency

However, for developing firmware, it is essential to clearly understand the libraries and dependencies between them to facilitate the implementation. These libraries provide essential functionality, which is standardized and reliable through community or industry testing. Another aspect is the simplification of complex functions to empower coding procedures and performance.

All of these libraries are compatible with the Raspberry Pi Pico W and Arduino IDE, making them straightforward for integration.

- WiFi.h: Facilitates Wi-Fi connectivity, enabling communication with the network and transmission of data to the central server. This library provides essential functionality for establishing and managing Wi-Fi connections. However, it can be power-intensive, which is a consideration for battery-operated systems.
- WiFiUdp.h: Handles UDP communication and is crucial for NTP implementation. It is lightweight and well-suited for high-speed data transmission [62]. While UDP lacks error correction and flow control mechanisms, its usage is efficient for NTP because it doesn't require the overhead of establishing a connection, as with TCP. NTP packets are small and need to be sent quickly and frequently; therefore, UDP is more efficient than TCP for this application [54, 63].
- time.h: Used for tasks like obtaining the current time and calculating average timings. While this library lacks a RTC, time-related functions are effectively managed by interfacing with the NTP server to obtain real-time data.
- **PubSubClient.h**: Utilized to implement MQTT communication by leveraging a lightweight and efficient publish/subscribe model, which is ideal for our application. The advantage is reliable data transmission between nodes and improved cloud processing, despite potential memory constraints and network connectivity handling. To maximize the potential of this protocol, buffer sizes were adjusted, and error-handling mechanisms were implemented to address limitations and ensure reliable real-time data transmission in PRIMULA.

4.2.3 Key Functionalities

Functionality	Description	Implementation/Method
Time Synchronization	Ensures accurate timestamping of sensor data, enabling precise correlation with PD symptom events.	Utilizes the synchronize_time() function, which leverages NTP to align the system's clock with a reference time source.
Data Acquisition	Efficiently collects physiological data via the ADC interface, ensuring high-resolution and consistent sensor readings.	Managed by the collectAndQueueReadings() function, which interfaces with the ADC to obtain sensor readings averaging approximately 24.29 µs.
Data Transmission	Maintains data integrity and reliability by ensuring each message is delivered at least once, crucial for accurate monitoring.	Facilitated by the sendMQTTMessage() function, which constructs and publishes data packets to the MQTT broker using QoS level 1.
Performance Logging	Tracks and logs key metrics to enable performance analysis and validate system reliability and efficiency.	Implements counters for total messages sent, failed transmissions, NTP attempts, and failures, providing valuable data for system assessment.
Error Handling	Detects failures, initiates retries with exponential backoff, and logs pertinent information to ensure graceful recovery from transient issues.	Integrated throughout the firmware, particularly in network connectivity and data transmission processes, to manage and mitigate errors without manual intervention.
System Responsiveness	Maintains prompt responsiveness to user interactions and system events, ensuring seamless and uninterrupted operation.	Achieved by optimizing the main loop for minimal delays and implementing interrupt-driven processing where necessary.

Table 4.1: Ke	ey Function	alities of t	he PRIMU	LA Firmware
---------------	-------------	--------------	----------	-------------

4.2.4 Function Definitions

The main features of the firmware are described in this subsection along with their roles and how they work together in the system.

setup_wifi()

The function setup_wifi() is responsible for establishing and maintaining a stable Wi-Fi connection. It incorporates retry logic to handle initial connection failures and initializes the Wi-Fi module using the provided SSID and password. By ensuring the system's continuous network connectivity, this feature enables constant communication between the MQTT broker and the NTP server.

reconnect_mqtt()

The reconnect_mqtt() function ensures that the MQTT client maintains a stable connection to the broker. If a disconnection occurs, the function applies a reconnection strategy that incorporates exponential backoff. As result, this approach avoids rapid, repeated reconnection attempts, which could otherwise congest the network or overload the broker.

synchronize_time()

At the core of the system's time synchronization capability is the **synchronize_time()** function. While this function manages communication with the NTP server by constructing and transmitting NTP request packets, processing the server's responses, and updating the system's epoch time accordingly. It incorporates robust error-handling and retry strategies to ensure consistent, precise, and reliable timekeeping.

sendMQTTMessage()

Despite the fact, sendMQTTMessage() function is responsible for creating and publishing MQTT messages that contain timestamped sensor data. Hence, data is formatted into a structured JSON, facilitating compatibility and efficient parsing by the recipient system. Additionally, the function tracks and logs the success of each message transmission, collecting valuable metrics for future performance analysis.

callback()

The callback() function is responsible for handling incoming MQTT messages on subscribed topics. While the current implementation may not require intricate message processing, this function lays the groundwork for future extensions, where the system might need to handle incoming commands or configuration updates. timerCheck()

The timerCheck() function is designed to monitor system inactivity and manage essential housekeeping tasks. By keeping track of the elapsed time since the last activity, it can trigger low-power modes or initiate system resets in the event of prolonged inactivity. This contributes to enhanced power efficiency and improved system reliability.

collectAndQueueReadings()

this function is used to manages the data acquisition process. In fact, It simulates user interactions, triggers sensor readings, synchronizes time, and queues the collected data for subsequent transmission. Inorder to ensures that data collection and transmission occur in a structured, efficient, and timely manner, maintaining the system's responsiveness and overall operational efficiency.

4.2.5 Techniques Used in the Firmware Code

This framework employed several advanced techniques to meet the outlined objectives of reliability, efficiency, and responsiveness. This subsection provides an in-depth analysis of these techniques, explaining their implementation within the code and their impact on system performance. A detailed summary of these integration techniques is provided in Table 4.2.

Integration Aspect	Description	Impact	
Synergistic Interaction of Components	Combines distinct firmware techniques to provide cohesive and resilient operation.	Reduces network congestion and increases synchronization success rates	
Balancing Reliability and Efficiency	Harmonizes MQTT's QoS level 1 with robust error handling to ensure reliable data transmission without excessive network overhead.	Maintains data integrity and optimizes network usage	
Optimizing Resource Utilization	Integrates power management and memory optimization techniques to maximize the efficiency of the microcontroller's limited resources.	Conserves energy and ensures stable, long-term operation	
Enhanced System Responsiveness	Implements optimized main loops and interrupt-driven processing to ensure swift responses to user interactions and system events.	Ensures seamless and uninterrupted real-time monitoring	
Scalability and Future-Proofing	Designs firmware architecture to be modular and adaptable, facilitating the integration of additional sensors and advanced features.	Enables easy expansion and integration of complex data analytics	

 Table 4.2: Integration of Techniques for Optimal Performance

The integration of advanced firmware techniques is pivotal to the PRIMULA system's performance, as elucidated in Section 4.2.5. These integrated approaches ensure that the system remains reliable, efficient, and responsive, thereby enhancing its capability to monitor Parkinson's Disease symptoms in real-time.

4.2.6 Challenges Encountered and Solutions

The firmware development phase of the PRIMULA system confronted several critical challenges, as elucidated in Section 4.2.6. Through the implementation of advanced retry mechanisms, robust data transmission protocols, and strategic resource management, these challenges were effectively surmounted, ensuring the system's reliability and efficiency.

4.3 Test and Validation

A systematic testing and validation protocol was executed to evaluate the operational efficacy of the PRIMULA system. The principal objectives encompassed the verification of time synchronization precision, the accuracy of data acquisition, the reliability of data transmission mechanisms, and the overall robustness of the system architecture. The subsequent sections delineate the methodologies employed and the results obtained during these evaluative procedures.

4.3.1 Time Synchronization Validation

To comprehensively evaluate the time synchronization performance of the PRIM-ULA system, a dedicated test was conducted over a 24-hour period. During this evaluation, the system endeavored to synchronize with the NTP server every 10 seconds, resulting in a total of 8,640 synchronization events.

Results

An advanced data extraction methodology was employed to capture the number of attempts per synchronization event and the total time taken, accounting for retries necessitated by network delays or packet loss. Table 4.3 summarizes the synchronization results.

Metric	Value
Total Synchronization Events	8,640
Successful Synchronizations	8,640
Average Time Taken (ms)	121.36
Maximum Time Taken (ms)	$5,\!642$
Events with 1 Attempt	8,591
Events with Multiple Attempts	49

 Table 4.3:
 Synchronization
 Statistics
 Over 24
 Hours

Figure 4.3 illustrates the NTP synchronization times over 24 hours, highlighting events that required multiple synchronization attempts.



Figure 4.3: NTP Synchronization Times Over 24 Hours, with Markers Indicating the Number of Attempts

Analysis and Conclusion

The synchronization data presented in Table 4.3 demonstrates an impeccable success rate, with all 8,640 synchronization attempts achieving precise alignment with the NTP server. The average synchronization latency of 121.36 milliseconds underscores the system's capability to maintain swift and accurate timekeeping.

Notably, 8,591 events (approximately 99.44%) succeeded on the first attempt, while only 49 instances required multiple retries. This highlights the effectiveness of the implemented exponential backoff retry mechanism in addressing transient connectivity challenges.

Figure 4.3 further corroborates these findings, illustrating synchronization times predominantly clustering around the average latency, with sporadic spikes corresponding to the few multi-attempt events. This consistency in synchronization performance, even over an extended 24-hour period, underscores the robustness of the firmware's time synchronization protocols and its resilience in maintaining temporal precision under continuous operational stress.

Consequently, the PRIMULA system exhibits exemplary time synchronization performance, characterized by flawless synchronization success rates and consistently low latency metrics. These outcomes validate the effectiveness of the NTP synchronization implementation and substantiate the system's suitability for realtime PD monitoring within a prototype framework.

4.3.2 Integrated System Validation

4.3.3 Test Setup and Methodology

A comprehensive integrated firmware test was conducted to evaluate the PRIMULA system's performance across multiple modules operating concurrently. The test simulated real-world usage scenarios by initiating data acquisition and transmission events through simulated button presses.

Simulated Button Presses

Button presses were systematically simulated at regular intervals to trigger the following sequence of operations:

- 1. **Data Collection**: Upon each button press, ten ADC measurements were acquired at regulated intervals.
- 2. **Data Processing**: The collected ADC data was displayed on the serial monitor and stored in a transmission queue.
- 3. **Time Synchronization**: The system synchronized its clock with the NTP server to timestamp the data batch.
- 4. **Data Transmission**: The ADC data, along with the timestamp, was encapsulated into MQTT messages and dispatched to the designated MQTT broker.

4.3.4 Data Collection and Processing Validation Results and Analysis



Figure 4.4: ADC Acquisition Time Over 6 Hours, *Represents the ADC acquisition time during the observation period, showing consistent timing with occasional spikes due to system processing loads.*

Figure 4.4 depicts the ADC acquisition times over the test in six hours. The system maintained an average ADC acquisition time of 24.29 µs, with individual measurements ranging between 22 µs and 26 µs. This consistency highlights the system's proficiency in real-time data collection, ensuring that sensor readings are captured promptly and accurately. The minimal variation in acquisition times reflects the firmware's efficiency and the reliability of the ADC interface, guaranteeing that sensor data is consistently and accurately captured for subsequent analytical processes.

4.3.5 Data Transmission Validation

Results and Analysis

Table 4.4 presents the transmission metrics observed in 6 hours testing. The system achieved a 100% success rate, successfully transmitting all 1,693 MQTT messages.
The average transmission time was 1.43 ms, with the fastest transmission at 1 ms and the slowest at 2.577 ms. Notably, 1,644 events (97.1%) succeeded on the first attempt, while 49 events (2.9%) required multiple attempts, highlighting the robustness of the implemented exponential backoff retry mechanism in handling transient connectivity challenges.

Metric	Value
Total Transmission Attempts	1,693
Successful Transmissions	$1,\!693$
Failed Transmissions	0
Success Rate (%)	100%
Average Transmission Time (ms)	1.43
Maximum Transmission Time (ms)	2.577
Events with 1 Attempt	1,644
Events with Multiple Attempts	49

 Table 4.4: Data Transmission Statistics Over 6 Hours



Figure 4.5: MQTT Message Transmission Times Over 6 Hours, with Markers Indicating the Number of Attempts

Figure 4.5 graphically illustrates the MQTT message transmission times , with

markers indicating the number of transmission attempts per message. The figure showcases consistently low transmission times, with occasional deviations attributable to simulated network delays or processing loads.

4.3.6 System Responsiveness and Reliability

Results and Analysis



Figure 4.6: System Responsiveness Metrics Over 6 Hours

Figure 4.6 presents an aggregated visualization of key system responsiveness metrics—ADC Acquisition Time, NTP Synchronization Time, and MQTT Send Time—over a continuous "6-hour monitoring period". The figure provides a clear and concise overview of the system's performance, highlighting both individual metric trends and their respective average values.

- "ADC Acquisition Time": Averaged at "24.29 μs ", with a range of "22 μs " to "26 μs ".
- "NTP Synchronization Time": Averaged at "102 ms", ranging from "100 ms" to "110 ms".
- "MQTT Message Transmission Time": Averaged at "1.43 ms", with a maximum of "2.577 ms".

The integrated analysis indicates that the PRIMULA system maintains high responsiveness across all operational metrics. The consistent ADC acquisition times ensure real-time data collection, while the reliable NTP synchronization guarantees accurate timestamping of data batches. The swift MQTT message transmission times affirm the system's capability to deliver data promptly to the broker, essential for real-time monitoring applications.

The concurrent operation of ADC data acquisition, NTP synchronization, and MQTT message transmission underscores the PRIMULA system's ability to handle multiple tasks efficiently without performance degradation. The high success rates and minimal latency across all metrics reflect the system's robustness and reliability, making it well-suited for real-time PD symptom monitoring.

4.4 Conclusion

This thesis delineates the development and implementation of the PRIMULA system, an innovative IoT-based wearable device meticulously engineered for the real-time monitoring and management PD. Through an extensive examination of WSNs, WBANs, and sophisticated communication protocols, this research addresses critical challenges inherent in PD management, including symptom heterogeneity, limitations of conventional assessment tools, and the complexities associated with medication side effects.

The comprehensive literature review presented in Chapter 2 offers an exhaustive analysis of the foundational technologies underpinning WSNs and WBANs. It scrutinizes various network topologies, communication protocols, and optimization strategies, highlighting the imperative for cross-layer optimization and advanced routing protocols to enhance energy efficiency, data reliability, and network scalability within healthcare applications [17, 18, 13]. Building upon these insights, Chapter 3 introduces the PRIMULA project framework, emphasizing the integration of asynchronous communication via MQTT and precise time synchronization through the NTP. The system design leverages the Raspberry Pi Pico W microcontroller for its cost-effectiveness and robust capabilities, ensuring efficient data acquisition, processing, and transmission [15, 25].

Chapter 4 delves into the practical implementation of the PRIMULA system, focusing on firmware development aimed at achieving reliable time synchronization, efficient data transmission, and power optimization. Rigorous testing validates the system's performance, demonstrating flawless synchronization rates, consistent data acquisition times, and reliable MQTT message transmissions over extended operational periods [26, 27]. These results underscore the system's capacity to maintain precise and dependable monitoring essential for managing PD symptoms effectively.

The PRIMULA system effectively mitigates the limitations of traditional PD assessment tools by enabling continuous, objective, and real-time monitoring of both motor and non-motor symptoms [62, 5]. This capability facilitates personalized treatment plans, timely medical interventions, and enhanced patient outcomes, thereby addressing significant gaps in current PD management practices. The integration of advanced sensors, real-time data processing, and reliable communication protocols positions PRIMULA as a transformative tool in the landscape of chronic disease management [23, 11].

4.5 Future Work

While the PRIMULA system demonstrates substantial advancements in real-time PD monitoring, several avenues remain open for further research and development to enhance its functionality, scalability, and clinical applicability. Integrating advanced data analytics and machine learning algorithms presents a promising direction for future work. By analyzing the aggregated data, the system can detect subtle patterns and trends in PD symptoms, facilitating predictive analytics that allow for anticipatory interventions before symptom exacerbation [22, 19]. This integration will not only enhance the precision of treatment plans but also provide personalized health insights tailored to individual patient data [20].

Expanding the system's scalability through multi-node configurations equipped with additional IMUs and diverse sensor modules will enable comprehensive monitoring of various body regions, offering a holistic view of a patient's condition [21, 54]. Developing and integrating advanced routing and data aggregation protocols will be crucial in managing the increased data flow and ensuring efficient communication between multiple sensor nodes [64, 65]. Furthermore, exploring hybrid communication protocols that combine the strengths of MQTT with other protocols such as CoAP or DDS will enhance data transmission reliability and reduce latency under diverse network conditions [1, 3]. Implementing adaptive communication strategies that dynamically switch between protocols based on realtime network performance metrics will further ensure optimal data transmission in varying environments [2].

Incorporating energy harvesting technologies, such as solar or kinetic energy harvesters, will extend the operational lifespan of wearable devices and reduce dependency on battery replacements [4, 12]. Developing sophisticated power management algorithms that dynamically adjust sensor sampling rates and transmission intervals based on usage patterns and energy availability will further enhance the system's sustainability [66]. Enhancing the user interface through the development of a user-friendly mobile application will provide patients and healthcare providers with real-time access to monitoring data, alerts, and health insights [67, 68]. Conducting extensive pilot studies and clinical trials will be essential to validate the efficacy and reliability of the PRIMULA system in real-world settings, ensuring its readiness for widespread clinical adoption [35, 69]. Ensuring compliance with relevant regulatory standards and certifications will facilitate the integration of PRIMULA into healthcare practices, promoting its adoption as a reliable tool for PD management [33].

Strengthening data encryption protocols and implementing robust privacy measures will protect sensitive patient information from unauthorized access and cyber threats [34, 31]. Developing and integrating intrusion detection systems will monitor and respond to potential security breaches in real-time, ensuring the integrity and confidentiality of health data [32, 38].

In essence, future enhancements will focus on refining the PRIMULA system's capabilities, broadening its applicability, and ensuring its seamless integration into clinical workflows. These advancements will collectively contribute to improved quality of life for individuals living with Parkinson's Disease, underscoring the system's potential as a pivotal tool in the realm of intelligent healthcare technologies [42, 40].

Bibliography

- Lukas Schulthess, Fabrice Longchamp, Christian Vogt, and Michele Magno.
 «A Lora-Based and Maintenance-Free Cattle Monitoring System for Alpine Pastures and Remote Locations». In: *Proceedings of the 11th International* Workshop on Energy Harvesting & Energy-Neutral Sensing Systems. SenSys
 '23. ACM, Nov. 2023, pp. 44–50. DOI: 10.1145/3628353.3628549 (cit. on pp. 1, 8, 16, 17, 60).
- [2] Gonçalo Marques, Rui Pitarma, Nuno M. Garcia, and Nuno Pombo. «Internet of Things Architectures, Technologies, Applications, Challenges, and Future Directions for Enhanced Living Environments and Healthcare Systems: A Review». In: *Electronics* 8.10 (Sept. 2019), p. 1081. DOI: 10.3390/electron ics8101081 (cit. on pp. 1, 7, 60).
- Marco Sica et al. «Design of a Multi-Sensors Wearable System for Continuous Home Monitoring of People With Parkinson's». In: *IEEE Access* 12 (2024), pp. 38436–38455. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2024.3375871. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2024.3375871 (cit. on pp. 1, 3, 14, 16, 60).
- [4] Mritunjay Kumar and Anshu Kumar Dwivedi. «A Comprehensive Study on Routing Approach in Wireless Sensor Networks». In: 2023 International Conference on IoT, Communication and Automation Technology (ICICAT). Vol. 7. June 2023, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ICICAT57735.2023.10263753 (cit. on pp. 1–3, 14, 29, 35, 60).
- S. J. Wagh, M. S. Bhende, and A. D. Thakare. Energy Optimization Protocol Design for Sensor Networks in IoT Domains. 1st. CRC Press, 2022. DOI: 10.1201/9781003310549 (cit. on pp. 2, 3, 6–9, 14, 16, 17, 29, 37, 59).
- [6] R. Goyal, N. Mittal, L. Gupta, and A. Surana. «Routing Protocols in Wireless Body Area Networks: Architecture, Challenges, and Classification». In: Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing 2023 (Jan. 2023), pp. 1–19. DOI: 10.1155/2023/9229297 (cit. on pp. 2, 6, 7, 22, 23, 29, 30).

- [7] N. El-Rashidy et al. «Mobile Health in Remote Patient Monitoring for Chronic Diseases: Principles, Trends, and Challenges». In: *Diagnostics* 11.4 (2021), p. 607. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4418/11/4/607 (cit. on pp. 2, 18).
- [8] Weichao Cai. «Research on Remote Monitoring Method of Body State and Physiological Parameters During Fitness». In: 2020 International Conference on Wireless Communications and Smart Grid (ICWCSG). IEEE, June 2020, pp. 85–87. DOI: 10.1109/icwcsg50807.2020.00027. URL: http://dx.doi. org/10.1109/icwcsg50807.2020.00027 (cit. on p. 2).
- [9] Kinza Shafique, Bilal A. Khawaja, Muhammad Daniyal Khurram, Syed Maaz Sibtain, Yazir Siddiqui, Muhammad Mustaqim, Hassan Tariq Chattha, and Xiaodong Yang. «Energy Harvesting Using a Low-Cost Rectenna for Internet of Things (IoT) Applications». In: *IEEE Access* 6 (2018), pp. 30932– 30941. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2834392. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2834392 (cit. on p. 2).
- [10] T. B. Stoker and R. A. Barker. «Recent developments in the treatment of Parkinson's Disease». In: *F1000Research* 9 (2020), p. 862. DOI: 10.12688/ f1000research.25634.1 (cit. on pp. 2, 19, 35).
- [11] J. Cappelle, S. Goossens, L. De Strycker, and L. Van der Perre. «Low-Power Synchronization for Multi-IMU WSNs». In: *IEEE Embedded Systems Letters* 16.2 (June 2024), pp. 210–213. DOI: 10.1109/LES.2023.3313194 (cit. on pp. 3, 60).
- [12] Md. Milon Islam, Sheikh Nooruddin, Fakhri Karray, and Ghulam Muhammad. «Internet of Things: Device Capabilities, Architectures, Protocols, and Smart Applications in Healthcare Domain». In: *IEEE Internet of Things Journal* 10.4 (Feb. 2023), pp. 3611–3641. DOI: 10.1109/JIOT.2022.3228795 (cit. on pp. 3, 60).
- M. A. Jamshed, K. Ali, Q. H. Abbasi, M. A. Imran, and M. Ur-Rehman.
 «Challenges, Applications, and Future of Wireless Sensors in Internet of Things: A Review». In: *IEEE Sensors Journal* 22.6 (2022), pp. 5482–5493.
 DOI: 10.1109/JSEN.2022.3143470 (cit. on pp. 6, 8–12, 14, 16, 59).
- [14] A. Dwivedi and A. Sharma. «FEECA: Fuzzy based Energy Efficient Clustering Approach in Wireless Sensor Network». In: *ICST Transactions on Scalable Information Systems* (July 2018). DOI: 10.4108/eai.13-7-2018.163688. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.4108/eai.13-7-2018.163688 (cit. on pp. 6, 8, 27, 28).
- [15] Zigbee Alliance. Zigbee Alliance. https://zigbeealliance.org/. [Accessed: September 28, 2024]. 2024 (cit. on pp. 6, 14, 16, 17, 59).

- [16] A. Kumar, K. Singh, T. Khan, A. Ahmadian, M. H. M. Saad, and M. Manjul. «ETAS: An Efficient Trust Assessment Scheme for BANs». In: *IEEE Access* 9 (2021), pp. 83214–83233. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3086534 (cit. on pp. 6, 21, 24–28).
- [17] H. Zimmermann. «OSI Reference Model The ISO Model of Architecture for Open Systems Interconnection». In: *IEEE Transactions on Communications* 28.4 (1980), pp. 425–432. DOI: 10.1109/TCOM.1980.1094702 (cit. on pp. 7, 9–14, 59).
- [18] I. F. Akyildiz, W. Su, Y. Sankarasubramaniam, and E. Cayirci. «Wireless sensor networks: a survey». In: *Computer Networks* 38.4 (2002), pp. 393–422.
 DOI: 10.1016/S1389-1286(01)00302-4 (cit. on pp. 8–10, 12, 13, 59).
- [19] Beibei Wang and K.J. Ray Liu. «Advances in cognitive radio networks: A survey». In: *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing* 5.1 (2011), pp. 5–23. DOI: 10.1109/JSTSP.2010.2093210 (cit. on pp. 8, 36, 60).
- [20] Ian F. Akyildiz and Ismail H. Kasimoglu. «Wireless sensor and actor networks: research challenges». In: Ad Hoc Networks 2.4 (Oct. 2004), pp. 351–367. DOI: 10.1016/j.adhoc.2004.04.003. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.adhoc.2004.04.003 (cit. on pp. 8, 60).
- I. Demirkol, C. Ersoy, and F. Alagoz. «MAC protocols for wireless sensor networks: a survey». In: *IEEE Communications Magazine* 44.4 (Apr. 2006), pp. 115–121. DOI: 10.1109/MCOM.2006.1632658. URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1109/MCOM.2006.1632658 (cit. on pp. 8, 60).
- [22] Ozlem Karaca and Radosveta Sokullu. «Comparative study of Cross Layer Frameworks for wireless sensor networks». In: 2009 1st International Conference on Wireless Communication, Vehicular Technology, Information Theory and Aerospace & Electronic Systems Technology. 2009, pp. 896–900. DOI: 10.1109/WIRELESSVITAE.2009.5172568 (cit. on pp. 8, 36, 60).
- Shilin Wang, Yunfei Cai, Youyun Xu, and Yuanyang Cai. Wireless Communication Network Technology and Evolution. World Scientific Publishing Co., Oct. 2021. ISBN: 978-981-12-4505-3. DOI: 10.1142/12496 (cit. on pp. 8, 14, 16, 60).
- [24] N. Samarji and M. Salamah. «ERQTM: Energy-Efficient Routing and QoS-Supported Traffic Management Scheme for SDWBANs». In: *IEEE Sensors Journal* 21.14 (July 2021), pp. 16328–16339. DOI: 10.1109/JSEN.2021.3075241 (cit. on pp. 8, 25–28).
- [25] M. Kumar and A. K. Dwivedi. «A Comprehensive Study on Routing Approach in Wireless Sensor Networks». In: 2023 International Conference on IoT, Communication and Automation Technology (ICICAT). IEEE, 2023, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ICICAT57696.2023.10161426 (cit. on pp. 14, 16, 37, 59).

- [26] Bluetooth SIG. Bluetooth. https://www.bluetooth.com/. [Accessed: September 28, 2024] (cit. on pp. 14-17, 25, 59).
- [27] LoRa Alliance. LoRa Alliance. https://lora-alliance.org/. [Accessed: September 28, 2024] (cit. on pp. 14–17, 59).
- [28] N. Naik. «Choice of effective messaging protocols for IoT systems: MQTT, CoAP, AMQP and HTTP». In: 2017 IEEE International Systems Engineering Symposium (ISSE). Vienna, Austria, 2017, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/SysEng. 2017.8088251 (cit. on pp. 16, 17).
- [29] E. Al-Masri et al. «Investigating Messaging Protocols for the Internet of Things (IoT)». In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 94880–94911. DOI: 10.1109/ ACCESS.2020.2993363 (cit. on pp. 16, 17).
- [30] W. Ayoub, A. E. Samhat, F. Nouvel, M. Mroue, and J. -C. Prévotet. «Internet of Mobile Things: Overview of LoRaWAN, DASH7, and NB-IoT in LPWANs Standards and Supported Mobility». In: *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials* 21.2 (2019), pp. 1561–1581. DOI: 10.1109/COMST.2018.2877382 (cit. on pp. 16, 17).
- [31] Fadi Al-Turjman. Internet of Nano-Things and Wireless Body Area Networks (WBAN). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis Group, 2019. ISBN: 9780367198527 (cit. on pp. 18, 22, 61).
- [32] Y. Ge et al. «Contactless WiFi Sensing and Monitoring for Future Healthcare - Emerging Trends, Challenges, and Opportunities». In: *IEEE Reviews in Biomedical Engineering* 16 (2023), pp. 171–191. DOI: 10.1109/RBME.2022.
 3156810 (cit. on pp. 18, 22, 37, 61).
- [33] Mehrdad Rostami, Mourad Oussalah, Kamal Berahmand, and Vahid Farrahi.
 «Community Detection Algorithms in Healthcare Applications: A Systematic Review». In: *IEEE Access* 11 (2023), pp. 30247–30272. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109/access.2023.3260652. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3260652 (cit. on pp. 18–20, 24, 25, 61).
- [34] Muhammad Yeasir Arafat, Sungbum Pan, and Eunsang Bak. «Distributed Energy-Efficient Clustering and Routing for Wearable IoT Enabled Wireless Body Area Networks». In: *IEEE Access* 11 (2023), pp. 5047–5061. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109/access.2023.3236403. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3236403 (cit. on pp. 18, 22, 25–28, 61).
- [35] Pooja Singh, Omprakash Kaiwartya, Nidhi Sindhwani, Vishal Jain, and Rohit Anand. Networking Technologies in Smart Healthcare: Innovations and Analytical Approaches. CRC Press, Oct. 2022. ISBN: 9781003239888. DOI: 10. 1201/9781003239888. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1201/9781003239888 (cit. on pp. 18-20, 60).

- [36] L. Ferrigno A. Moschitta and P. Carbone. «Parkinson's Disease Patient Monitoring: A Real-Time Tracking and Tremor Detection System Based on Magnetic Measurements». In: *Sensors* 21.12 (2021), p. 4196 (cit. on pp. 18, 35, 37).
- [37] Parkinson's Research News. *ScienceDaily*. Accessed: June. 1, 2024. 2023. URL: https://www.sciencedaily.com (cit. on p. 19).
- [38] H. Taleb, A. Nasser, G. Andrieux, N. Charara, and E. Motta Cruz. «Wireless technologies, medical applications and future challenges in WBAN: a survey». In: Wireless Networks 27 (2021). [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11276-021-02780-2, pp. 5271-5295. DOI: 10.1007/ s11276-021-02780-2 (cit. on pp. 19, 20, 22, 35, 61).
- [39] A. S. Rajasekaran, L. Sowmiya, A. Maria, and R. Kannadasan. «A survey on exploring the challenges and applications of wireless body area networks (WBANs)». In: *Cyber Security and Applications* 2 (Jan. 2024), p. 100047. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csa.2024.100047 (cit. on pp. 21–23, 29–31, 35).
- [40] M. Sehgal and S. Goyal. «Intelligent Hybrid Model for Energy-Efficiency on WBAN». In: 2023 International Conference on Advanced Computing & Communication Technologies (ICACCTech). Banur, India, 2023, pp. 380–384.
 DOI: 10.1109/ICACCTech61146.2023.00069 (cit. on pp. 22, 61).
- [41] S. Menaga, R. Vanithamani, and P. Hema. «A Comprehensive Review on Wireless Body Area Network - Technologies, Challenges, Application and Energy Saving Techniques». In: 2022 3rd International Conference on Electronics and Sustainable Communication Systems (ICESC). IEEE, Aug. 2022, pp. 541-548. DOI: 10.1109/ICESC54411.2022.9885543. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1109/ICESC54411.2022.9885543 (cit. on pp. 22, 23, 30, 31).
- [42] G. Mehmood M. Z. Khan, A. Waheed M. Zareei, and E. M. Mohamed. «A Trust-Based Energy-Efficient and Reliable Communication Scheme (Trust-Based ERCS) for Remote Patient Monitoring in Wireless Body Area Networks». In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 131397–131413. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS. 2020.3007405 (cit. on pp. 25–28, 61).
- [43] D. K. Anguraj and S. Smys. «Trust-Based Intrusion Detection and Clustering Approach for Wireless Body Area Networks». In: Wireless Personal Communications 104.1 (2018), pp. 1–20. DOI: 10.1007/s11277-018-6005-x (cit. on pp. 27, 28).

- [44] R. Sharma and S. S. Kang. «Secure Data Transmission in Wireless Body Area Networks: An Energy-Efficient and Route Prediction Methodology». In: 2024 2nd International Conference on Device Intelligence, Computing and Communication Technologies (DICCT). 2024, pp. 381–386. DOI: 10.1109/ DICCT61038.2024.10533027 (cit. on pp. 27, 28).
- S. Yasin, T. Ali, U. Draz, A. Shaf, and M. Ayaz. «A Parametric Performance Evaluation of Batteries in Wireless Sensor Networks». In: *Recent Trends* and Advances in Wireless and IoT-enabled Networks. Springer International Publishing, 2019, pp. 187–196. ISBN: 9783319999661. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-99966-1_17. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-99966-1_17 (cit. on pp. 27, 28).
- [46] Ali Moin, Arno Thielens, Alvaro Araujo, Alberto Sangiovanni-Vincentelli, and Jan M. Rabaey. «Adaptive Body Area Networks Using Kinematics and Biosignals». In: *IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics* 25.3 (Mar. 2021), pp. 623–633. ISSN: 2168-2208. DOI: 10.1109/jbhi.2020.3003924. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/JBHI.2020.3003924 (cit. on pp. 29, 31).
- [47] Priyanka Kamboj, Sujata Pal, and Ambika Mehra. «A QoS-aware Routing based on Bandwidth Management in Software-Defined IoT Network». In: 2021 IEEE 18th International Conference on Mobile Ad Hoc and Smart Systems (MASS). Oct. 2021, pp. 579–584. DOI: 10.1109/MASS52906.2021.00082 (cit. on pp. 29, 30).
- [48] Navneet Kaur, Sahil Verma, Kavita, N. Z. Jhanjhi, S. Singh, Rania M. Ghoniem, and Sayan Kumar Ray. «Enhanced QoS-Aware Routing Protocol for Delay Sensitive Data in Wireless Body Area Networks». In: *IEEE Access* 11 (2023), pp. 106000–106012. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3311756 (cit. on p. 30).
- [49] M. McHenry. «Symptoms and Possible Causes Cures for Parkinson's Disease».
 In: Brain Matters (2021). University of Illinois Undergraduate Neuroscience Society. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2142/113599 (cit. on p. 33).
- [50] E. I. Abdukodirov, Kh. M. Khalimova, and R. J. Matmurodov. «Hereditary-Genealogical features of Parkinson's disease and their early detection of the disease». In: *International journal of health sciences* (Apr. 2022). ISSN: 2550-6978. DOI: 10.53730/ijhs.v6ns1.5802. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.53730/ijhs.v6nS1.5802 (cit. on p. 33).
- [51] Andrea Pergolini et al. «Assessment of Sensorized Insoles in Balance and Gait in Individuals With Parkinson's Disease». In: *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering* 32 (2024), pp. 1445–1454. DOI: 10.1109/TNSRE.2024.3381537 (cit. on pp. 33, 35).

- [52] Shih-Yuan Chen and Chi-Lun Lin. «Wi-Fi-Based Human Activity Recognition for Continuous, Whole-Room Monitoring of Motor Functions in Parkinson's Disease». In: *IEEE Open Journal of Antennas and Propagation* 5.3 (June 2024), pp. 788–799. ISSN: 2637-6431. DOI: 10.1109/ojap.2024.3393117. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/0JAP.2024.3393117 (cit. on pp. 33–35).
- [53] Irene Rechichi, Luca Di Gangi, Maurizio Zibetti, and Gabriella Olmo. «Home Monitoring of Sleep Disturbances in Parkinson's Disease: A Wearable Solution». In: 2024 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops and other Affiliated Events (PerCom Workshops). 2024, pp. 106–111. DOI: 10.1109/PerComWorkshops59983.2024.10502893 (cit. on pp. 33–35, 38).
- [54] G. Xylomenos and G.C. Polyzos. «TCP and UDP performance over a wireless LAN». In: IEEE INFOCOM '99. Conference on Computer Communications. Proceedings. Eighteenth Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies. The Future is Now (Cat. No.99CH36320). Vol. 2. 1999, 439–446 vol.2. DOI: 10.1109/INFCOM.1999.751376 (cit. on pp. 35, 48, 60).
- [55] K. Ahmed and Y. Miao. «Wireless Body Area Network (WBAN): A Survey on Architecture, Technologies, Energy Consumption, and Security Challenges».
 In: Journal of Sensor and Actuator Networks 11.4 (2022), p. 67 (cit. on p. 35).
- [56] H. Mughal, A. R. Javed, M. Rizwan, A. S. Almadhor, and N. Kryvinska. «Parkinson's Disease Management via Wearable Sensors: A Systematic Review». In: *IEEE Access* 10 (2022), pp. 35219–35237. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS. 2022.3166514 (cit. on p. 35).
- [57] D.L. Mills. «Internet time synchronization: the network time protocol». In: *IEEE Transactions on Communications* 39.10 (1991), pp. 1482–1493. DOI: 10.1109/26.103043 (cit. on p. 36).
- [58] Nina Verdel, Miha Mohorcic, Miha Drobnic, Matej Supej, and Matjaz Depolli. «Time Synchronization in Wireless IMU Sensors for Accurate Gait Analysis During Running». In: 2023 IEEE International Workshop on Sport, Technology and Research (STAR). Vol. 2. IEEE, Sept. 2023, pp. 126–129. DOI: 10. 1109/star58331.2023.10302652. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ STAR58331.2023.10302652 (cit. on pp. 36, 37).
- [59] Rani Kumari and Parma Nand. «Performance comparison of various routing protocols in WSN and WBAN». In: 2016 International Conference on Computing, Communication and Automation (ICCCA). 2016, pp. 427–431. DOI: 10.1109/CCAA.2016.7813814 (cit. on p. 36).
- [60] Arm Ltd. Arm Official Website. https://www.arm.com. Accessed: June. 1, 2024 (cit. on p. 37).

- [61] Raspberry Pi Trading Ltd. Raspberry Pi Pico W Datasheet. [Online]. [Accessed: June 22, 2024]. 2021. URL: https://www.raspberrypi.org/documentation/ microcontrollers/rp2040/Raspberry-Pi-Pico-W.html (cit. on p. 38).
- [62] Azeem Aftab, Azfar Ghani, Zain-ul-Abedin Abidi, and Mohtashim Baqar.
 «Simulation based performance evaluation of TCP variants along with UDP flow analysis of throughput with respect to delay, buffer size and time». In: 2016 International Conference on Open Source Systems & Technologies (ICOSST). 2016, pp. 36–41. DOI: 10.1109/ICOSST.2016.7838574 (cit. on pp. 48, 59).
- [63] Thuy T.T. Nguyen and Grenville Armitage. «A survey of techniques for internet traffic classification using machine learning». In: *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials* 10.4 (2008), pp. 56–76. ISSN: 1553-877X. DOI: 10.1109/surv.2008.080406. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/SURV.2008.080406 (cit. on p. 48).
- [64] Janitha Krishnan and Shriram K. Vasudevan. «An Extensive Survey on IoT Smart Gateways, Software Architecture, Related Protocols and Challenges». In: 2019 International Conference on Vision Towards Emerging Trends in Communication and Networking (ViTECoN). Vol. 8. IEEE, Mar. 2019, pp. 1– 6. DOI: 10.1109/ViTECoN.2019.8899513. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10. 1109/ViTECoN.2019.8899513 (cit. on p. 60).
- [65] Eyhab Al-Masri, Karan Raj Kalyanam, John Batts, Jonathan Kim, Sharanjit Singh, Tammy Vo, and Charlotte Yan. «Investigating Messaging Protocols for the Internet of Things (IoT)». In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 94880–94911. ISSN: 2169-3536. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2993363. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2993363 (cit. on p. 60).
- [66] Shahid Mahmood, Syed Muhammad Mohsin, and Syed Muhammad Abrar Akber. «Network Security Issues of Data Link Layer: An Overview». In: 2020 3rd International Conference on Computing, Mathematics and Engineering Technologies (iCoMET). IEEE, Jan. 2020. DOI: 10.1109/iCoMET48670.2020. 9073825. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/iCoMET48670.2020.9073825 (cit. on p. 60).
- [67] Mukesh Mishra, Gourab Sen Gupta, and Xiang Gui. «A Review of and a Proposal for Cross-Layer Design for Efficient Routing and Secure Data Aggregation over WSN». In: 2017 3rd International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Networks (CINE). IEEE, Oct. 2017, pp. 120–125. DOI: 10.1109/CINE.2017.30. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/cine.2017.30 (cit. on p. 60).

- [68] Stefano-Niko Orzen. «Interaction understanding in the OSI model functionality of networks with case studies». In: 2014 IEEE 9th International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI). IEEE, May 2014, pp. 327–330. DOI: 10.1109/SACI.2014.6840086. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/saci.2014.6840086 (cit. on p. 60).
- [69] Xiaoming Yuan, Zedan Zhang, Chujun Feng, Yejia Cui, Sahil Garg, Georges Kaddoum, and Keping Yu. «A DQN-Based Frame Aggregation and Task Offloading Approach for Edge-Enabled IoMT». In: *IEEE Transactions on Network Science and Engineering* 10.3 (May 2023), pp. 1339–1351. ISSN: 2334-329X. DOI: 10.1109/tnse.2022.3218313. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TNSE.2022.3218313 (cit. on p. 60).